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1.0 SCOPE of WORK 

 Purpose 1.1.
 
The State of Mississippi, Office of the Governor, Division of Medicaid (DOM) requests proposals from 
responsible contractors that are experienced in providing Independent Verification & Validation (IV&V) 
services for the completion of its Eligibility Modernization Project. Qualified vendors who have 
successfully delivered IV&V services for Medicaid Eligibility systems will be given additional 
consideration.  The Eligibility Modernization Project is intended to replace DOM’s current legacy 
systems, Medicaid Eligibility Determination System (MEDS) and Medicaid Eligibility Determination 
System Expansion (MEDSX) systems, with an integrated state-of-the-art, HIPAA compliant, rules-
driven, web-based system that is versatile in its architecture, structure, and code to support the evolving 
business needs of Mississippi’s Medicaid program.  
  
The project has been divided into multiple phases. The first Phase delivered a Modified Adjusted Gross 
Income (MAGI) compliant system (Mod MEDS) into production in December 2014 and retired the 
legacy MEDSX system.  The next phase (Phase II) is intended to combine the current eligibility systems 
(Mod MEDS & legacy MEDS) into a single system (MMEDS) capable of determining eligibility for both 
the MAGI and ABD (Aged, Blind, Disabled) populations.  Subsequent optional phases, (Phases III & IV) 
will add an online common eligibility web portal, a requirement that was mandated by the Affordable 
Care Act (ACA). The final Phase could provide integrated eligibility functionality with the Mississippi 
Department of Human Services (MDHS) and other interested agencies that require eligibility 
determination in the State of Mississippi.  
 
Offerors are requested to bid service offerings for Phase II and optional Phases III & IV.  The state will 
award services for Phase II only, with Phases III & Phase IV service awards to follow upon the 
satisfactory performance of the awarded Contractor and available funding.  As of the release date of this 
RFP, no detailed project schedule exists for any of the upcoming proposed project phases. It is anticipated 
that the Contractor will participate with DOM, CMS, and the DDI Contractor in defining a realistic 
schedule for Phase II during project initiation. 
 
Services should include, but are not limited to, the following: 
 

• Assuring compliance of current and future business and technological needs and services of 
DOM’s MEDS with the CMS MITS 11-01-v1.0 Enhanced Funding Requirements: Seven 
Conditions and Standards (hereafter, “Seven Standards”), which can be found at the following 
website: http://www.medicaid.gov/Medicaid-CHIP-Program-Information/By-Topics/Data-and-
Systems/Downloads/EFR-Seven-Conditions-and-Standards.pdf 

• Providing IV&V services assisting DOM with the completion for Phase II and optional Phases III 
& IV of the Eligibility Modernization Project including UAT and Go Live recommendations;  

• Assisting DOM with the selection of and presenting recommendations for the best solution(s) to 
achieve a cost effective and administratively efficient web portal that is fully integrated with the 
Mod MEDS system and is fully compliant with CMS regulations requirements; 
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• Providing IV&V tasks  and ensuring effective performance throughout the DDI System 
Development Life Cycle (SDLC) and CMS certification for the web portal and completion of the 
Modernized MEDS Project; and 

• Assisting DOM with Technical Support for the following tasks, including but not limited to: 
 

o Assist DOM with the technical sections for RFP generation and technical proposal 
evaluation for vendor selections for any additional work needed for the web portal; 

o Assist DOM with strategic planning, governance, and procurement as needed for the 
final Phase  of the Eligibility Modernization Project as DOM and MDHS work 
toward an integrated system;  

o Assist DOM with Federally required documentation, funding support and contingency 
planning; and  

o Other related tasks as required.  

Offerors are encouraged to propose innovative solutions to meet or exceed the requirements of this RFP.  
All proposals must be consistent with current Mississippi Medicaid policies and federal and state law.   

 Procurement Overview 1.2.
 
The following timetable is the estimated and anticipated timetable for the RFP and procurement process:                
                     

Table 1: RFP and Procurement Timetable 

Date  Process 

January 23, 2015 Public Release of RFP 

February 13 , 2015  Deadline for Submission of Letters of Intent and Written 
Questions 

February 20, 2015 Response to Questions Posted 

February 27, 2015 Proposal Deadline 

March 2-11, 2015 Evaluation of Technical Proposal 

March 12-13, 2015 Evaluation of Business Proposal 

March 27, 2015 Executive Review and Award 

April  1, 2015 Contract Start 

1.2.1. Mandatory Letter of Intent 

The Offeror is required to submit a written Letter of Intent to Bid.  The Letter of Intent is due by 5:00 
p.m. CDT, February 13, 2015, and should be sent to: 

Matthew Nassar 
Procurement Officer  
Division of Medicaid  
Walter Sillers Building 
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550 High Street, Suite 1000  
Jackson, Mississippi 39201  

The Letter of Intent shall be on the official business letterhead of the Offeror and must be signed by an 
individual authorized to commit the Offeror to the work proposed.  Submission of the Letter of Intent 
shall not be binding on the prospective Offeror to submit a proposal.  However, an Offeror that does not 
submit a Letter of Intent by 5:00 p.m. CDT, February 13, 2015, will not thereafter be eligible for the 
procurement. 

Prior to February 13, 2015, all RFP amendments will be sent to all organizations that request an RFP and 
will be posted on DOM’s procurement Website, http://www.medicaid.ms.gov/resources/procurement.   
After February 13, 2015, RFP amendments will only be distributed to Offerors that have submitted a 
Letter of Intent.  

1.2.2. Procedure for Submitting Questions 

Multiple questions may be submitted using the template at www.medicaid.ms.gov/resources/procurement. 
Written answers will be available no later than 5:00 PM CDT, Friday, February 20, 2015, via DOM’s 
procurement Website www.medicaid.ms.gov/resources/procurement.  Questions and answers will become 
part of the final Contract as an attachment.  Written responses provided for the questions will be binding. 

Questions should be sent to:  

Matthew Nassar 
Procurement Officer  
Division of Medicaid  
Walter Sillers Building 
550 High Street, Suite 1000  
Jackson, Mississippi 39201  
 
OR EMAIL: matthew.nassar@medicaid.ms.gov  

1.2.3. Proposal Submission Requirements 

Proposals must be in writing and must be submitted in two (2) parts: 1) Technical Proposal; and 2) 
Business Proposal. The format and content of each proposal are specified in Sections 5 and 6, 
respectively, of this RFP. 
 
Technical Proposals for the RFP must be submitted in three-ring binders with components of the RFP 
clearly tabbed. An original and four (4) copies of the Technical Proposal under sealed cover and an 
original and two (2) copies of the Business Proposal under separate sealed cover must be received by 
DOM no later than 5:00 p.m. CDT, on February 27, 2015. The Offeror must also submit one (1) full copy 
of the Technical Proposal and one (1) redacted version on CD in a single document in a searchable 
Microsoft Word or Adobe Acrobat (PDF) format. Any proposal received after this date and time will be 
rejected and returned unopened to the Offeror. Proposals should be delivered to: 
 

Matthew Nassar 

http://www.medicaid.ms.gov/resources/procurement/
http://www.medicaid.ms.gov/resources/procurement
http://www.medicaid.ms.gov/resources/procurement
mailto:Theresa.King@medicaid.ms.gov
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Procurement Officer 
Division of Medicaid 
Walter Sillers Building 
550 High Street, Suite 1000 
Jackson, Mississippi 39201 

 
The outside cover of the package containing the Technical Proposal shall be marked: 

 
RFP # 20150123-IT 
Technical Proposal 
(Name of Offeror) 
  

The outside cover of the package containing the Business Proposal shall be marked: 
 
RFP # 20150123-IT 
Business Proposal 
(Name of Offeror) 

 
As the proposals are received, the sealed proposals will be date-stamped and recorded by DOM. The 
Offeror is responsible for ensuring that the sealed competitive proposal is delivered by the required time 
and to the required location and assumes all risks of delivery. A facsimile proposal will not be accepted. 
Each proposal must be signed in blue ink by an official authorized to bind the Offeror to the proposal 
provisions. Proposals and modifications thereof received by DOM after the time set for receipt or at any 
location other than that set forth above will be considered late and will not be considered for award. 

1.2.4. Project Background  

DOM is required to comply with the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act of 2010 (ACA) which 
mandates the determination of Medicaid eligibility using Modified Adjusted Gross Income (MAGI) rules 
and interoperability with either a state-based Health Insurance Marketplace (SBM) or Federally 
Facilitated  Marketplace (FFM). To comply with these new requirements, and to enhance our existing 
Medicaid/CHIP eligibility determination system to be compliant with the Seven Conditions and 
Standards, DOM has been working on an Eligibility Modernization project for a Modernized Medicaid 
Eligibility Determination System (Mod MEDS) that includes a rules engine, interfaces with the FFM and 
the Federal Data Services Hub (FDSH), and system enhancements that comply with the Seven Conditions 
and Standards and that advances Medicaid Information Technology Architecture (MITA) maturity for 
eligibility processes. 
 
In 2011, DOM amended its Contract with the current Fiscal Agent (Xerox) to modernize the existing 
Medicaid Eligibility Determination system.  ModMEDS, implemented in December 2014, was required 
as part of the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act of 2010 (ACA). DOM anticipates the 
completion of the next Phase (combining ModMEDS with legacy MEDS) of the Eligibility 
Modernization project by the fourth quarter of 2015.  In addition, DOM expects to complete the 
implementation of the eligibility web portal by the third quarter of 2015 and beyond that, plans to extend 
the system to allow availability of common eligibility shared services which could be used by MDHS and 
potentially other state agencies that require eligibility determination to take advantage of some of the 
modernized business functionality available via the DOM MEDS system by late 2016.  
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The vision for the fully modernized MEDS system is to have one unified Medicaid and CHIP eligibility 
determination system that allows: 
 

• manual and electronic input of applicant data;  
• verification of applicant information through interfaces with the FDSH and other electronic 

sources;  
• determination of MAGI and non-MAGI Medicaid and Children’s Health Insurance Program 

(CHIP) eligibility through use of a rules engine;  
• electronic generation of reports, letters, and notices;  
• document management system implementation with electronic storage of scanned and electronic 

documents and electronic workflows; 
• improved efficiency in the user interface and user experience;  
• real-time interfacing with the FFM to ensure a seamless, no-wrong-door approach as required by 

the ACA; 
• a common web portal for applicants to allow a one stop application process for both MAGI and 

non-MAGI applications with real-time eligibility determination; 
• compliance with the Seven Conditions and Standards and that advances Medicaid Information 

Technology Architecture (MITA) maturity for eligibility processes; and 
• automated eligibility determination for applications provided electronically (e.g. through the FFM 

or the State’s common web portal) 

In addition, the extended vision could address an optional component to include a web portal for 
applicants and new integration of eligibility determination for the Supplemental Nutrition Assistance 
Program (SNAP) and Temporary Assistance for Needy Families (TANF) programs, which are 
administered by the Mississippi Department of Human Services (DHS), and other health and human 
services programs in which a shared eligibility system would provide more efficient and effective service.  
The Contractor will verify the DOM chosen solution meets business and technical requirements in order 
to obtain CMS Certification for the upgraded Modernized MEDS System 

1.2.5. Location of Work 

Because it is necessary for the Contractor to work very closely with the DOM team, office space, 
equipment and network connectivity for onsite Contractor staff members will be provided by DOM in 
Jackson, Mississippi.  With the prior permission of DOM, certain work can be performed at the 
Contractor’s site if it can be demonstrated that the off-site work provides a savings to DOM, and the 
work done offsite does not interfere with or slow the progress of the project, or reduce the quality of the 
work product(s). 
 
Office accommodations include, but are not limited to, sufficient work space, meeting room space, 
and printer access and resources, as well as limited access to the DOM network.  If it is determined 
additional resources are necessary to complete their assigned work, these resources must be approved 
by the DOM before they can be used. 
 
DOM will provide customary and reasonable office resources and other office supplies that are used in 
everyday operations. The Contractor is required to provide computers (desktops, laptops, ipads, etc.) 
for their staff. 
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DOM will provide one telephone set and access to DOM’s phone system.  This agreement does not 
include long distance service.  If long distance service is needed, the Contractor must use their own 
cellular devices or make other arrangements. 
 
The Contractor shall be required to establish secure connectivity and file transfers between the 
Contractor and the Modernized MEDS Project DDI Contractor, and between the Contractor and DOM.    
Prior to connecting any computer equipment to the State’s network, the selected Contractor must obtain 
written approval from DOM’s Chief Systems Information Officer and have completed a fully executed 
Contract, including a business associate agreement (BAA), and a data use agreement (DUA).  Approval 
may be given once connectivity requirements have been presented and the selected Contractor 
demonstrates compliance with the State’s policies and requirements, including compliance with the 
State’s Enterprise Security policy.  A copy of the state’s enterprise security policy may be obtained by 
following the instructions at:    
http://www.its.ms.gov/Services/Documents/Security/Instructions%20for%203Party%20Acquiring%20IT
S%20ESP.pdf.   
   

 OFFEROR REQUIREMENTS AND RESPONSIBILIES 1.3.
 
Technical Services requires providing architectural and programmatic expertise to ensure that the 
technical requirements and design decisions are sound and up-to-date with the latest technologies and 
standards in use by IT organizations in the world today.  Technical Services will also assist with ensuring 
that documentation is in compliance with accepted and required standards (e.g. CMS requirements) and 
that the multi-departmental governance has the structure and rules to work collaboratively and effectively. 
 
Quality Assurance requires oversight of the entire program to ensure that overall program requirements 
are delivered in a manner in keeping with development of a solution that serves the goals of the program 
(e.g., ease of use at a reduced overall cost, streamlining of information sharing, and highly repeatable 
business processes).  Quality Assurance will review and monitor project planning, delivery, System 
Development Life Cycle (SDLC) processes (including delivery artifacts such as deliverables and work 
products) to ensure that the State and other contractors are working collaboratively and in concert with 
one another in an accountable manner, and that the program maintains high quality standards that track 
and equate with the Contracted Solution.         
 
Verification requires monitoring project compliance with stated plans, development and implementation 
methodologies, overarching quality standards, business processes, procedures and compliance with the 
CMS Enterprise Life Cycle (ELC) Gate Review process and Seven Standards and Conditions.  The 
services required as a result of this RFP will be applicable throughout the SDLC and through production 
deployment and live commercial use.  The Offeror will determine whether the plans, methods and 
products delivered satisfy project requirements for the State and other contractors are internally complete, 
consistent, and sufficiently correct to adequately support the next iteration, phase and step as well as 
adhere to quality and usability standards whether they are systems development, deployment, business 
process, organizational or change oriented.  
 
Validation requires examining and exercising the complete delivered solution (i.e., software, hardware, 
business processes, procedures, organizational change and documentation) to determine if all State 
requirements have been met and are acceptable to launch services.  Validation will commence at the start 
of the SDLC planning phase to ensure that the plan, approach, methodologies and project standards will 
result in satisfying the State’s requirements.  Validation will be incorporated at the end of each SDLC 

http://www.its.ms.gov/Services/Documents/Security/Instructions%20for%203Party%20Acquiring%20ITS%20ESP.pdf
http://www.its.ms.gov/Services/Documents/Security/Instructions%20for%203Party%20Acquiring%20ITS%20ESP.pdf


Independent Verification and Validation Services 
RFP# 20150123-IT 

Office of the Governor – Division of Medicaid 
 
       

Page 12 of 73 
 

phase or upon presentation of a deliverable to ensure the phase or deliverable (as applicable) incorporates 
the latest requirements (regardless of how many times these requirements may have changed or refined 
during the project). 

1.3.1. Project Duties 

The Contractor shall provide IV&V services in accordance with 45 CFR 95.626.  Services include, but 
are not limited to, developing and providing a comprehensive IV&V Project Management Plan including 
IV&V strategy and methodology to assist in the successful implementation of Phase II of the Modernized 
MEDS Project.  The IV&V Project Management Plan shall provide a description of the activities 
necessary to perform an IV&V review of the Modernized MEDS Project, personnel, and duties associated 
with IV&V activities, standards and methodology the Contractor will utilize during the implementation of 
the Modernized MEDS Project.  The Contractor will be responsible for coordinating updates to the IV&V 
Management Plan as necessary, including quarterly review/assessment for responsive adjustments.   

 
The Offeror will be responsible for the following duties including, but not limited to:   
 

• Develop a comprehensive IV&V work plan that covers completion of all currently outlined 
phases of the Modernized Eligibility System; 

• Provide independent review, critique, and enhancement of the Modernized MEDS Development 
Contractor and State project plans, work products, deliverables, business processes, and 
management decisions.    

• Support the State in meeting the requirements of the CMS Enterprise Life Cycle (ELC) Gate 
Review process to ensure overall compliance with CMS requirements as well as ensure that the 
program operates in a manner as to secure Federal funding through CMS requirement 
compliance;  

• Support DOM and contractors in communicating with stakeholders at all levels to promote 
alignment between stakeholder needs and project objectives, and to rectify concerns and issues;  

• Validate the project’s product and processes to ensure their effectiveness in both development 
and operations and their compliance with regulatory requirements; 

• Work with DOM and contractors to develop quantitative performance metrics that support 
monitoring and communication of project status; 

• Facilitate early detection and correction of cost and schedule variances; 
• Promptly escalate all real or perceived program issues to DOM’s Project Manager with specific 

recommendations to remedy these issues;  
• Anticipate and identify project risks and monitor the project risk management process.  Propose 

alternative or remedial approaches to minimize (or if possible eliminate) project risks; 
• Work collaboratively with DOM, CMS, the current DDI Contractor, and any other potential 

vendors (such as a web portal vendor) in producing the best solutions for the Modernized MEDS 
system while also maintaining all “Seven Standards” and working towards MITA maturity; 

• Develop Monthly Independent Assessment Report for delivery to CMS and present them to the 
State Project Management team as requested, or in the case of serious (or perceived) deviation  
from the contracted work, on an ad-hoc basis;  The reports shall include recommendations to the 
State regarding project status and risk anticipation, prevention and mitigation actions; 
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• Assist DOM with the User Acceptance Testing by performing the following: 
- Document and report concerns, issues, risks, and recommendations as to the readiness for 

user acceptance testing. The intent of this task is to verify that the test plan was followed and 
the criteria used to test the scenarios for each deliverable has been reviewed and documented 
according to the processes developed; 

- Support DOM in creating a user acceptance test validation strategy, including defining 
System test exit criteria, and UAT entry and exit criteria, to ensure that the new technology 
meets the current and planned business needs of DOM Modernized MEDS Project; 

- Participate in the Execution of UAT;  
- Participate in the implementation process and definition, validation, and execution of the 

UAT test artifacts; 
- Validate user acceptance test results; 

 
• Provide technical services to assist DOM in the generation of the requirements for the subsequent 

phases of the Modernized MEDS Project;  
• Evaluate feedback from stakeholders and recommend changes in how DOM implements a new 

system or new components; and  
•  Assist DOM with establishing the appropriate project governance along with overall IV&V 

services if Phase IV is executed. 

The Offeror must identify in the proposal response the project management methodology that will be used 
to guide the project. This must include details on the monitoring methodology, standards, process, etc., 
that the Offeror will use to meet the requirements for this project.  The Offeror shall establish criteria, 
based on an industry standard, and tailor their formal methodology to evaluate, assess, recommend, and 
track progress of the Modernized MEDS Project variables (including but not limited to cost, schedule, 
scope, quality, risk, accuracy, completeness, timeliness, and consistency of deliverables) throughout the 
project life cycle  

The Offeror must clearly describe in the submitted proposal the issue resolution escalation process that 
will be used within their organization to resolve any problems, conflicts or issues that may arise during 
the course of the project. The IV&V Contractor and DDI Contractor shall not meet/communicate under 
any circumstances during this project without the presence of a State representative unless prior approval 
is provided by DOM. 

The IV&V Project Manager will work with the DOM’s Project Manager, during project initiation, to set 
standards for all aspects of the project (e.g., deliverable delivery schedule, time of the regularly scheduled 
project meetings, project communication, information to be included, and the format of the written status 
reports, etc.).     

Contractor must agree to the following if there are disputes between the IV&V Contractor and the DDI 
Contractor that are presented to the DOM with respect to project activities and deliverables: 
 

• The Contractor and DDI Contractor will meet with DOM’s Project Director to resolve the issue; 
and 

• If the issue cannot be resolved at the Project Director level, then the issue will be presented to the 
DOM Project Steering Committee for resolution. 
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1.3.2. CMS Certification  

A final goal of the DOM Modernized MEDS Project is to achieve CMS certification for the new system.  
This certification will entitle the State of Mississippi to receive the maximum federal financial 
participation (FFP) allowable.  The Contractor shall provide quality assurance and control methodology 
as it relates to CMS certification.  

1.3.3. Deliverables 

The Contractor must provide, at a minimum, the services and corresponding deliverables listed in Table 1 
including the project management and administrative responsibilities required for delivery.   Each IV&V 
deliverable will be reviewed by DOM and shall require formal written approval from DOM before 
acceptance of the deliverable. The Contractor shall allow for a minimum ten (10) business days following 
receipt, per deliverable, for DOM to review each deliverable and document its findings, except as 
specified by DOM. Based on the review findings, DOM may accept the deliverable, reject portions of the 
deliverable, reject the complete deliverable, or require that revisions be made. The Contractor shall make 
all modifications directed by DOM. An additional eight (8) business day review period may be required 
when revisions are requested or a deliverable is rejected. 

The Contractor shall employ an internal quality control process to ensure that all deliverables, documents, 
and calculations are complete, accurate, easy to understand, and of high quality. The Contractor shall 
provide deliverables that, at a minimum, are responsive to the specific requirements, organized into a 
logical order, contain no spelling or grammatical errors, formatted uniformly, and contain accurate 
information and correct calculations. The Contractor shall retain all draft and marked-up documents and 
checklists utilized in reviewing documents for reference through the duration of the project and project 
acceptance.  The Contractor shall document, in writing, and deliver to DOM, its responses to DOM’s 
comments and requests for revisions or clarification of deliverable contents. 

At DOM’s request, the Contractor shall be required to conduct a walk-through of selected deliverables to 
facilitate DOM’s review and approval process. The walk-through shall consist of an overview of the 
deliverable, explanation of the organization of the deliverable, presentation of critical issues related to the 
deliverable, and other information as requested by DOM. It is anticipated that the content of the walk-
through may vary with the deliverable presented. 

In the event that any due date for a deliverable falls on a day that is not a business day, then the due date 
shall be automatically extended to the next business day, unless otherwise directed by DOM. 

Table 1 Summary of Tasks and Deliverables 

TASK/DELIVERABLE DUE DATE 

Develop, Maintain and Execute the IV&V Plan 

High-level IV&V Plan Included in Response 

Comprehensive IV&V Plan Within 10 Days of Award 

IV&V Plan Updates As Needed 

Work Plan Within 15 Days of Award 
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TASK/DELIVERABLE DUE DATE 

Work Plan Updates As Needed 

Perform Initial, Periodic, and Final IV&V Assessments 

Initial IV&V Report Within 30 Days of Award 

Periodic IV&V Assessment Reports Monthly 

Final IV&V Report Upon Conclusion of IV&V Activities 

Perform Ongoing Risk and Issues Management 

Risk and Issues Review Ongoing 

Recommended Risk and Issues Responses and Action Plans Ongoing 

Review and Evaluate DDI Vendor Deliverables 

Review of Deliverable Documents As Needed 

Recommendations to Accept/Reject Deliverables with 
Supporting Comments 

As Needed 

Support CMS Certification 

Attestations Required by CMS for DDI Activities As Needed 

Attendance on Calls and at Meetings, As Needed As Needed 

Report on Status 

Status Reports Monthly 
 
The following are deliverables for the project: 
 

• The Contractor must draft an IV&V Plan to describe their approach for assuring quality of the 
Mod MEDS project.  The Plan must describe the proposed methodologies for managing quality 
during the full life-cycle of the project and identify metrics for tracking project performance 
against milestones. 

• The Contractor must draft a comprehensive IV&V plan that includes a work plan.  The work plan 
must detail tasks, resources, durations, and sequencing to execute the IV&V Plan. 

• With the exception of the first month following contract award, the IV&V Contractor should 
provide the following monthly deliverables within the first ten (10) days of each month: 
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o The Contractor shall provide a monthly status report to DOM that contains a listing of 

each position and hours worked for each position that contributed to work during the 
reporting month along with expected plans for the next month. 

o The Contractor shall provide to CMS a Monthly Independent Assessment Report. The 
report shall include, but not be limited to: 

 
 A summary report of any assessments with outstanding issues; 
 Any and all significant or serious deficiencies, risks, or concerns with the 

Modernized MEDS Project or its quality, design, development, or 
implementation; 

 Any other circumstances which, if not remedied, will have a negative impact on 
the Modernized MEDS Project and its operations, design, development, 
implementation, efficiency, cost, and/or time for completion. 

 Project schedule – the Contractor shall provide a written assessment of the 
progress of the Modernized MEDS Project against planned tasks, duration, 
resources, completion dates, milestones, and issues impacting the schedule. The 
Contractor shall include recommendations specifying what can be done 
immediately and in the long term to remediate variations and deviations from the 
schedule. 

 Risk assessment – the Contractor shall report on the identified risks to the 
successful implementation of the Modernized MEDS System and the potential 
level of severity of said risks. The Contractor shall recommend mitigation and/or 
resolution strategies to manage and/or eliminate the identified risks. 

 Project phase assessments – the Contractor shall provide an assessment of the 
activities and progress of unit, system, parallel, conversion, integration, user 
acceptance, and operational readiness testing, and implementation phases of the 
project. 

 Provide recommendations, as necessary, for addressing any issues relative to the 
successful completion of the project phases, including detailed recommendations 
in each area of the project phases specifying what can be done immediately and 
in the long term to improve in said area. 
 

• Within thirty (30) days of the implementation of each phase, the Contractor shall prepare a post-
implementation report that provides information in areas that can be applied directly to the 
ongoing program.  DOM’s Project Director and the Contractor will define post-implementation 
report specifics during project implementation. 

• The Contractor must perform a risk and issues review and help DOM develop any course of 
action to mitigate the risks and issues found. 

• The Contractor must provide an independent, detailed review of DDI deliverables to assess the 
quality, alignment to project objectives, and adherence to both State and Federal requirements.  
The Contractor must implement review procedures that allow the completion of a deliverable 
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review within seven days of submission to the Contractor by DOM.  In addition, the Contractor 
must provide attestations of DDI implementations as required by CMS during the course of 
system development. 

 

 PROJECT STAFFING REQUIREMENTS 1.4.
 
Qualified Offerors bidding on the IV&V proposal must have at least two (2) years previous IV&V 
experience with integration of eligibility systems implementations.  Offerors are expected to propose a 
sufficient number of qualified staff with the requisite skills to meet all requirements in this RFP.   
 
The Offeror shall submit a staffing plan with the Technical proposal.  The staffing plan shall include how 
the Offeror plans to address staffing requirements, project roles, and responsibilities and how changes in 
staff will be handled through all phases of the project.  The staffing plan must show each individual’s 
responsibilities on the project. Offeror should clearly identify key staffing positions.  Key staff will be 
expected to remain on the project throughout all subsequent phases of the project lifecycle unless prior 
written approval is provided by DOM. 
 
The Offeror must submit a team organization chart that clearly defines reporting relationships within the 
project team delivering the services and within the Offeror’s organization outside of the project.  The 
Offeror must provide a descriptive narrative indicating the role and responsibility of each resource or 
entity identified.  All positions identified on the team organization chart that is not fulfilled by project key 
personnel must include a representative profile that includes qualifications, experience, and education. 
The plan must have the following information: 
 

• A contingency plan that shows the Offeror’s ability to add more staff, if needed, to ensure 
meeting the Project’s due dates; and 

• A statement and chart that clearly indicates the time commitment of the proposed project 
personnel.  The Offeror must include a statement indicating to what extent, if any, the key project 
personnel may work on other projects during the term of the Contract.  DOM may reject any 
proposal that commits the proposed key project personnel to other projects during the term of the 
Contract if DOM believes that such commitment may be detrimental to the Offeror’s 
performance. 
 

In addition, the Offeror must provide a narrative that identifies and discusses staff redundancy, staff 
replacement, backup personnel, and ability of the proposed staff to perform their assigned tasks.  

The Offeror shall have key personnel employed with the Offeror when the proposal is submitted and must 
be solely dedicated to the Modernized MEDS Project Contract and located in Jackson, MS unless 
specified part-time.  All other staff must be employed by or committed to join the Offeror’s organization 
by the beginning of the Contract start date.  If the proposed individual is not an employee, a letter of 
commitment to join the organization must be submitted with the RFP response. 
 
During the first one hundred eighty (180) calendar days of the Contract period, no substitutions of key 
personnel shall be permitted unless such substitutions are necessitated by an individuals’ sudden illness, 
death, resignation, or otherwise approved or requested by DOM. In any of these events, or time periods, 
the Contractor shall immediately notify via email DOM and provide the information required below: 
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• All proposed substitutions of key personnel must be made in writing. 
• The request to substitute key personnel must be made at least twenty (20) days in advance 

of the substitution. 
• The request must be submitted to the CSIO and DOM project management team. 
• The DOM Project Management team must agree to the substitution before substitution shall 

become effective.   
• DOM will have the right to interview any and all proposed key personnel substitutions. 

 
After the first one hundred eighty (180) calendar days, key personnel positions cannot be vacant for more 
than ninety (90) calendar days.  The Contractor must notify DOM within five (5) business days of 
learning that any key position is vacant or anticipated to be vacant within the next thirty (30) calendar 
days.   
 
DOM may impose penalties if any key management personnel positions remain vacant for greater than 
ninety (90) calendar days.  DOM must approve any filled vacant positions prior to the assignment being 
effective.  If the position is filled without DOM approval, DOM may impose penalties in accordance with 
Section 4.2 of this RFP. 
 
Prior to diverting any of the specified key personnel for any reason, the Contractor must notify DOM in 
writing, and shall submit justification (including proposed substitutions) in sufficient detail to permit 
evaluation of the impact on the delivery of covered services.  These changes are to be reported when 
individuals either leave or are added to these key positions. 

1.4.1. Project Staffing  

The Offeror shall propose a staff team with the most appropriate experience and expertise to address the 
requirements of this RFP, in coordination with Section 5 of this RFP. The proposed individuals should 
possess the requisite skills and certifications for the roles they are filling.  The Offeror shall propose the 
appropriate number of staff in order to meet the requirements identified in this RFP and perform IV&V 
services for a project of similar scope and size.  However, if the Offeror deems a position necessary, 
beyond that what is listed, the Offeror must identify these positions and provide a complete description of 
how these positions support the Statement of Work set forth in this RFP. 

1.4.1.1 IV&V Manager: 

The IV&V Manager will serve as the primary point of contact with DOM.  The Manager will plan, 
manage, execute, report, and oversee all aspects of the IV&V activities.  The IV&V Manager will ensure 
compliance with the implementation and Certification of the Modernized MEDS System, State, and 
Federal regulations, and their own internal standards and procedures. This position is responsible for all 
IV&V assigned staff, tasks, and deliverables. 
 
Project management activities include, but are not limited to: 
 

• Establishing and administering controls to ensure the quality of deliverables are acceptable to the 
DOM Project Team; 
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• Developing and maintaining a detailed work plan and schedule in conjunction with the State 
Project Team; 

• Monitoring project activities to ensure project schedules are met; 
 

o Notifying DOM of any potential delays in reaching target dates and supporting 
information about the delays; 

o Notifying DOM of any proposed revisions to the overall work schedule; 
 

• Presenting weekly reports orally when requested and written monthly reports; and 
• Facilitating and escalating, within the Vendor’s organization, any problems or issues that arise 

during the project.   

1.4.1.2 Technical Analyst(s) (Leads and SMES): 

DOM requires the Offeror to provide independent review and analysis of SDLC phase activities to 
confirm that agreed-upon technical requirements for the new system are met. Technical Analyst(s) will 
work with DOM and the Modernized MEDS Project Contractors to improve technical processes as 
needed.   

1.4.1.3 Functional Analyst(s) (Leads and SMES): 

DOM requires the Offeror to provide independent review and analysis of the Modernized MEDS Project 
Contractors’ deliverables, processes and procedures for SDLC phase activities and State processes and 
procedures. Functional Analyst(s) will work with DOM and the Modernized MEDS Project Contractor to 
improve business processes, as needed.  

1.4.1.4 Quality Assurance Lead 

DOM requires the Offeror to provide an individual with significant experience with industry standards 
and best practices regarding quality, quality assurance, and quality control principles and techniques.  The 
individual must have experience with automated test tools and their most effective use within large scale 
development, package-acquisition, and integration projects.  The individual must have experience with 
healthcare related concepts, configuration, and management with Medicaid experience and previously 
been involved in supporting and/or directing User Acceptance (UAT) efforts. 

 ADDITIONAL OFFEROR RESPONSIBILITIES 1.5.
 
While DOM has defined a minimum set of deliverables in this RFP, the Offeror may recommend 
additional deliverables in their proposal.  DOM will determine during the RFP evaluation phase and in the 
course of Contract negotiations to accept or reject any additional proposed deliverables.  Additional 
deliverables proposed by the Offeror or DOM after the award of the Contract will be managed via the 
State’s change request and Contract amendment process. 

 OFFEROR PAYMENT 1.6.

The Offeror shall be paid in accordance with the Offeror's bid price proposal set forth in Budget Summary 
(Appendix A), which shall be a firm and fixed price for the period of the Contract.  The Contract award 
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shall be based on the submitted price and the total amount payable under the Contract shall not exceed the 
submitted price unless amended, as required by law and this RFP, by DOM and the Offeror.  

Payments shall be based on the proposed payment plan by the Offeror and the Agreement that shall be 
finalized during Contract negotiations/project initiation.  Payments shall be based upon submitted 
invoices and progress reports associated with the agreed upon payment plan.  Progress reports must 
provide a description to sufficiently support payment by DOM.  The deliverable-based payments for this 
project shall be made only upon DOM acceptance of the prescribed deliverables. 

 
To secure the Offeror’s performance under this Contract, the Offeror agrees that DOM shall hold back as 
retainage fifteen percent (15%) of each amount payable including amounts payable under Change Orders.  
The retainage amount shall be released upon successful implementation and acceptance of the specific 
Phase the Modernized MEDS System by DOM which accomplished. 

1.6.1. Hourly Rates for Change Orders 
 
The Offeror shall provide rates for each proposed role.  These rates shall be used in pricing of any 
subsequent change orders. 

1.6.2. Travel  

All travel performed in conjunction with performing the responsibilities of this Contract shall not include 
any profit for the Contractor.  Travel costs should be included in the implementation and operations costs 
as necessary.  All travel must be pre-approved by DOM prior to the travel occurring.   

1.6.3. Erroneous Issuance of Compensation  

In the event compensation to the Contractor of any kind is issued in error, the Contractor shall reimburse 
DOM the full amount of erroneous payment within thirty (30) days of written notice of such error.  
Interest shall accrue at the statutory rate upon any amounts determined to be due and not repaid within 
thirty (30) days following the notice.  If payment is not made within thirty (30) days following notice, 
DOM may deduct the amount from the Contractor’s monthly administrative invoice.  

1.6.4. Release  

Final payment to the Contractor by DOM shall not constitute final release of the Contractor, especially if 
there are outstanding turnover obligations pursuant to the Contractor’s Turnover Plan.  Should audit or 
inspection of the Contractor's records or client complaints subsequently reveal outstanding Contractor 
liabilities or obligations, the Contractor shall remain liable to DOM for such liabilities and obligations 
and until resolution of such issues.  Any overpayments by DOM shall be subject to any appropriate 
recoupment to which DOM is lawfully entitled.  Any payment under this Contract shall not foreclose the 
right of DOM to recover excessive or illegal payments as well as interest, attorney fees, and costs 
incurred in such recovery. 

Remainder of This Page Intentionally Left Blank 
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2 AUTHORITY 
This RFP is issued under the authority of Title XIX of the Social Security Act, as amended, implementing 
regulations issued under the authority thereof, and under the provisions of the Mississippi Code of 1972, 
as amended.  All Offerors are charged with presumptive knowledge of all requirements of the cited 
authorities in this RFP.  The submission of a valid executed proposal by an Offeror shall constitute 
admission of such knowledge on the part of each Offeror.  Any proposal submitted by an Offeror that 
fails to meet any published requirement of the cited authorities may, at the option of DOM, be rejected 
without further consideration.  

The submission of a valid executed proposal by an Offeror shall constitute acceptance of terms and 
conditions stated in this RFP and in the Contract prototype which can be found on the procurement web 
page at www.medicaid.ms.gov/resources/procurement. 

Medicaid is a program of medical assistance for the needy administered by each state using state 
appropriated funds and matching federal funds within the provisions of Title XIXof the Social Security 
Act, as amended. In Mississippi, the state Medicaid agency also administers the separate State Children’s 
Health Insurance Program (CHIP) under Title XXI of the Social Security Act, as amended. 

In addition, Section 1902(a)(30)(A) of the Social Security Act requires that state Medicaid agencies 
provide methods and procedures to safeguard against unnecessary utilization of care and services and to 
assure “efficiency, economy and quality of care.”  

2.1 Organizations Eligible to Submit Proposals 

To be eligible to submit a proposal, an Offeror must provide documentation for each requirement as 
specified below:  

1. The Offeror has not been sanctioned by a state or federal government within the last 
ten (10) years.  

2. The Offeror must have experience in contractual services providing the type of 
services described in this RFP.  

3. The Offeror must be able to provide all required components detailed in the Scope of 
Work.  

2.2 Procurement Approach  

The major steps of the procurement approach are described in detail in Section 3 of this RFP.  Proposals 
must be submitted in two (2) parts: 1) a Technical Proposal; and 2) a Business Proposal.  Format and 
content requirements for each part are specified in Sections 5 and 6, respectively, of this RFP.  

2.3 Accuracy of Statistical Data  

All statistical information provided by DOM in relation to this RFP represents the best and most accurate 
information available to DOM from DOM records at the time of the RFP preparation. DOM, however, 

http://www.medicaid.ms.gov/resources/procurement
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disclaims any responsibility for the inaccuracy of such data.  Should any element of such data later be 
discovered to be inaccurate, such inaccuracy shall not constitute a basis for Contract rejection by any 
Offeror. Neither shall such inaccuracy constitute a basis for renegotiation of any payment rate after 
Contract award.  Statistical information is available on DOM’s Website.  

2.4 Electronic Availability  

The materials listed below are on the Internet for informational purposes only. This electronic access is a 
supplement to the procurement process and is not an alternative to official requirements outlined in this 
RFP. 

This RFP will be posted on the Procurement page of DOM’s Website at 
www.medicaid.ms.gov/resources/procurement.  The Official RFP Questions and Answers will be posted 
on the Website on the date specified in the RFP timetable. 

Information concerning services covered by Mississippi Medicaid and a description of DOM’s 
organization and functions can also be found on the Procurement page of DOM’s Website.  

DOM’s Website is http://www.medicaid.ms.gov.  The Website contains Annual Reports, Provider 
Policies, Bulletins, and other information.  The DOM Annual Report Summary provides information on 
beneficiary enrollment, program funding, and expenditures broken down by types of services covered in 
the Mississippi Medicaid program for the respective fiscal years.  

State financial information is available at http://www.dfa.state.ms.us.  

The State of Mississippi portal is http://www.mississippi.gov. 

The Mississippi Code of 1972 covers all sections of and amendments to the Constitution of the United 
States and the Constitution of the State of Mississippi.  Access to the Mississippi Code can be found at 
http://www.sos.state.ms.us/ed_pubs/mscode/.  

 

 
Remainder of This Page Intentionally Left Blank  
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3 PROCUREMENT PROCESS 

3.1 APPROACH 
 
This RFP is designed to provide the Offeror with the information necessary to prepare a competitive 
proposal.  Similarly, the RFP process is intended to also provide DOM with the necessary information to 
adequately assist DOM in the selection of a contractor to provide the desired services.  It is not intended 
to be comprehensive, and each Offeror is responsible for determining all factors necessary for submission 
of a comprehensive and accurate proposal. DOM reserves the right to interpret the langue of this RFP or its 
requirements in a manner that is in the best interest of the State 

 
DOM will ensure the fair and equitable treatment of all persons and Offerors in regards to the 
procurement process.  The procurement process provides for the evaluation of proposals and selection of 
the winning proposal in accordance with federal law and regulations and state law and regulations. 

 
Separate technical and business proposals must be submitted simultaneously but will be opened at 
different stages of the evaluation process.  Technical Proposals will be thoroughly evaluated in order to 
determine point scores for each evaluation factor.  The evaluation and selection process is described in 
more detail in Section 7 of this RFP. 

 
Submission of a proposal constitutes acceptance of the conditions governing the procurement, including 
the evaluation factors contained in Section 7 of this RFP, and constitutes acknowledgment of the detailed 
descriptions of the Mississippi Medicaid Program. 

 
No public disclosure or news release pertaining to this procurement shall be made without prior written 
approval of DOM.  Failure to comply with this provision may result in the Offeror being disqualified. 

3.2 QUALIFICATION OF OFFERORS 
 
Each corporation shall report its corporate charter number in its transmittal letter or, if appropriate, have 
attached to its transmittal letter a signed statement to the effect that said corporation is exempt from the 
above described, and set forth the particular reason(s) for exemption.  All corporations shall be in full 
compliance with all Mississippi laws regarding incorporation or formation and doing business in 
Mississippi and shall be in compliance with the laws of the state in which they are incorporated, formed, 
or organized. 
 
DOM may make such investigations as necessary to determine the ability and commitment of the Offeror 
to adhere to the requirements specified within this RFP and its proposal, and the Offeror shall furnish to 
DOM all such information and data for this purpose as may be requested. DOM reserves the right to 
inspect Offeror’s physical facilities prior to award to satisfy questions regarding the Offeror’s capability 
to fulfill the requirements of the Contract.  DOM reserves the absolute right to reject any proposal if the 
evidence submitted by, or investigations of, such Offeror fail to satisfy DOM that such Offeror is properly 
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qualified to carry out the obligations of the Contract and to complete the work or furnish the items 
contemplated. 

 
DOM reserves the right to reject any and all proposals, to request and evaluate “best and final offers” 
from some or all of the respondents, to negotiate with the best proposed Offeror to address issues other 
than those described in the proposal, to award a Contract to other than the low Offeror, or not to make any 
award if it is determined to be in the best interest of the State. 

 
Discussions may be conducted with Offerors who submit proposals determined to be reasonably 
susceptible of being selected for award.  Proposals may also be accepted without such discussions.  

3.3 RULES OF PROCUREMENT 
 
To facilitate the DOM procurement, various rules have been established and are described in the 
following paragraphs. 

3.3.1 Restrictions on Communications with DOM Staff 

From the issue date of this RFP until a contractor is selected and the Contract is signed, Offerors and/or 
their representatives are not allowed to communicate with any DOM staff regarding this procurement 
except the RFP Issuing Officer,Matthew Nassar. 

For violation of this provision, DOM shall reserve the right to reject any proposal. 

3.3.2 Amendments to this Request for Proposals 

DOM reserves the right to amend the RFP at any time.  All amendments will be posted to the 
Procurement page of the DOM website at http://www.medicaid.ms.gov/resources/procurement.   

3.3.3 Cost of Preparing Proposal 

Costs of developing the proposals are solely the responsibility of the Offerors.  DOM will provide no 
reimbursement for such costs.  

3.3.4 Certification of Independent Price Determination 

The Offeror certifies that the prices submitted in response to the solicitation have been arrived at 
independently and without, for the purpose of restricting competition, any consultation, communication, 
or agreement with any other bidder or competitor relating to those prices, the intention to submit a bid, or 
the methods or factors used to calculate the prices bid. 

3.3.5 Acceptance of Proposals 

After receipt of the proposals, DOM reserves the right to award the Contract based on the terms, 
conditions, and premises of the RFP and the proposal of the selected Contractor without negotiation. 
 

http://www.medicaid.ms.gov/
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All proposals properly submitted will be accepted by DOM.  However, upon review DOM reserves the right 
to request necessary amendments from all Offerors, reject any or all proposals received, or cancel this RFP, 
according to the best interest of DOM and the State of Mississippi. 
 
DOM also reserves the right to waive minor irregularities in bids providing such action is in the best 
interest of DOM and the State of Mississippi.  A minor irregularity is defined as a variation of the RFP 
which does not affect the price of the proposal, or give one party an advantage or benefit not enjoyed by 
other parties, or adversely impact the interest of DOM.   
 
Where DOM may waive minor irregularities as determined by DOM, such waiver shall in no way modify 
the RFP requirements or excuse the Offeror from full compliance with the RFP specifications and other 
Contract requirements if the Offeror is awarded the Contract. 
 
DOM reserves the right to exclude any and all non-responsive proposals from any consideration for 
Contract award.  DOM will award a firm fixed price Contract to the Offeror whose offer is responsive to 
the solicitation and is most advantageous to DOM and the State of Mississippi in price, quality, and other 
factors considered. 

3.3.6 Rejection of Proposals 

At the discretion of DOM, any proposal may be rejected for failure to conform to the rules or the 
requirements contained in this RFP.  Proposals must be responsive to all requirements of the RFP in order 
to be considered for contract award.  DOM reserves the right at any time to cancel the RFP, or after the 
proposals are received to reject any of the submitted proposals determined to be non-responsive.  DOM 
further reserves the right to reject any and all proposals received as a result of this RFP.  Reasons for 
rejecting a proposal include, but are not limited to, the following: 

 
1. The proposal contains unauthorized amendments to the requirements of the RFP. 

2. The proposal is conditional. 

3. The proposal is incomplete or contains irregularities that make the proposal indefinite or ambiguous. 

4. The proposal is not signed by an authorized representative of the party. 

5. The proposal contains false or misleading statements or references. 

6. The Offeror is determined to be non-responsible as specified in Section 3.3.10 below. 

7. The proposal ultimately fails to meet the announced requirements of the State in some material 
aspect. 

8. The proposal price is clearly unreasonable based upon DOM’s assessment of the Contractor’s 
anticipated level of effort necessary to perform the work. 

9. The proposal is not responsive, i.e., does not conform in all material respects to the RFP. 

10. The supply or service item offered in the proposal is unacceptable by reason of its failure to meet the 
requirements of the specifications or permissible alternates or other acceptability criteria set forth in 
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the RFP. 

11. The Offeror does not comply with the Procedures for Delivery of Proposal as set forth in the RFP. 

12. The Offeror currently owes the State money. 

3.3.7 Alternate Proposals 

Each Offeror, its subsidiaries, affiliates or related entities shall be limited to one (1) Technical Proposal 
and one (1) Business Proposal which is responsive to the requirements of this RFP.  Failure to submit a 
responsive proposal will result in the rejection of the Offeror’s proposal.  Submission of more than one 
(1) proposal by an Offeror may, at the discretion of DOM, result in the summary rejection of all proposals 
submitted.  An Offeror’s proposal shall not include variable or multiple pricing options. 

3.3.8 Proposal Amendments and Withdrawal 

Prior to the proposal due date, a submitted proposal may be withdrawn by submitting a written request for 
its withdrawal to DOM, signed by the Offeror. 
 
An Offeror may submit an amended proposal before the due date for receipt of proposals. Such amended 
proposal must be a complete replacement for a previously submitted proposal and must be clearly 
identified as such in the Transmittal Letter.  DOM will not merge, collate, or assemble proposal materials.   
 
Unless requested by DOM, no other amendments, revisions, or alterations to proposals will be accepted 
after the proposal due date. 
 
Any submitted proposal shall remain a valid proposal for one hundred eighty (180) days from the 
proposal due date. 

3.3.9 Disposition of Proposals 

The proposal submitted by the successful Offeror shall be incorporated into and become part of the 
resulting Contract.  All proposals received by DOM shall upon receipt become and remain the property of 
DOM.  DOM will have the right to use all concepts contained in any proposal and this right will not affect 
the solicitation or rejection of the proposal. 

3.3.10 Responsible Contractor 

DOM shall Contract only with a responsible Contractor who possesses the ability to perform successfully 
under the terms and conditions of the proposed procurement and implementation.  In letting the Contract, 
consideration shall be given to such matters as Contractor’s integrity, performance history, financial and 
technical resources, and accessibility to other necessary resources.  

3.3.11 Best and Final Offers 

The Executive Director of DOM may make a written determination that it is in the State’s best interest to 
conduct additional discussions or change the State’s requirements and require submission of best and final 



Independent Verification and Validation Services 
RFP# 20150123-IT 

Office of the Governor – Division of Medicaid 
 
       

Page 27 of 73 
 

offers.  The Procurement Officer shall establish a date and time for the submission of best and final offers.  
Otherwise, no discussion of or changes in the bids shall be allowed prior to award.  Offerors shall also be 
informed that if they do not submit a notice of withdrawal or another best and final offer, their immediate 
previous offer will be construed as their best and final offer. 

3.5 NOTICE OF INTENT TO AWARD  
 
Award shall be made in writing to the responsible Offeror whose proposal is determined to be the most 
advantageous to the State taking into consideration price, quality, and evaluation factors set forth in the 
RFP.  The notice of intent to award Contract shall be sent by e-mail with reply confirmation to the 
winning Offeror.  Unsuccessful Offerors will be notified in the same manner after the award has been 
accepted or declined. 
 
Consistent with existing state law, no Offeror shall infer or be construed to have any rights or interest to a 
Contract with DOM until final approval is received from all necessary entities and until both the Offeror 
and DOM have executed a valid Contract. 

3.6 PROTESTS 
 
Authority to resolve any Offeror protest in connection with the selection for award of a Contract resulting 
from this RFP lies with the Executive Director and/or the Board Members of the Mississippi Department 
of Information Technology Services (ITS).  Copies of the protest procedures are available on the ITS 
Internet site – ITS Protest Procedure and Policy, Section 019-020, ITS Procurement Hand book at 
www.its.ms.gov/Procurement/Documents/ISS%20Procurement%20Manual.pdf or from ITS upon 
request. 

3.6.1 Protest Bond 

Potential Offerors may protest any of the specifications of this RFP on the belief that the specification is 
unlawful, unduly restrictive, or unjustifiably restraining to competition.  Any such protest must be in 
writing and submitted to the ITS Executive Director along with the appropriate protest bond within five 
(5) working days of the Official Release of the RFP, as defined in the ITS Protest Procedure and 
Policy.  The outside of the envelope must be marked “Protest” and must specify RFP number. 
 
As a condition precedent to filing any protest related to this procurement, the Protestor must procure, 
submit to the ITS Executive Director with its written protest, and maintain in effect at all times during the 
course of the protest or appeal thereof, a protest bond in the full amount of two hundred fifty thousand 
dollars and zero cents ($250,000.00). 
 
The bond shall be accompanied by a duly authenticated or certified document evidencing that the person 
executing the bond is a licensed Mississippi agent for the bonding company.  This certified document 
shall identify the name and address of the person or entity holding the protest bond and shall identify a 
contact person to be notified in the event that the State is required to take action against the bond.  The 
protest bond shall not be released to the Protestor until the protest is finally resolved and the time for 
appealing said protest has expired.  The protest bond shall be procured at the Protestor’s expense and shall 

http://www.its.ms.gov/Procurement/Documents/ISS%20Procurement%20Manual.pdf
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be payable to the Mississippi Department of Information Technology Services.  Prior to approval of the 
protest bond, ITS reserves the right to review the protest bond and require the Protestor to substitute an 
acceptable bond in such form as the State may reasonably require. The premiums on such bond shall be 
paid by the Protestor. The State may claim against the protest bond as specified in Section 25-53-5 (n) of 
the Mississippi Code of 1972, as amended, in addition to all other rights and remedies the State may have 
at law or in equity. 
 
Should the written protest submitted by the Protestor fail to comply with the content requirements of ITS’ 
protest procedure and policy, fail to be submitted within the prescribed time limits, or fail to have the 
appropriate protest bond accompany it, the protest will be summarily dismissed by the ITS Executive 
Director. 
 
 

Remainder of This Page Intentionally Left Blank 
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4. TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

4.1 GENERAL 
 
The Contract between the State of Mississippi and the Contractor shall consist of 1) the Contract and any 
amendments thereto; 2) this request for proposals (RFP) and any amendments thereto; 3) the Contractor’s 
proposal submitted in response to the RFP by reference and as an integral part of this Contract; 4) written 
questions and answers.  In the event of a conflict in language among the four documents referenced 
above, the provisions and requirements set forth and/or referenced in the Contract and its amendments 
shall govern.  After the Contract, the order of priority shall be as follows:  the RFP Bidder Questions and 
Answers, the Business Proposal or BAFO, if applicable, the Technical Proposal and its attachments, and 
the RFP.  In the event that an issue is addressed in one document that is not addressed in another 
document, no conflict in language shall be deemed to occur.   

 
However, DOM reserves the right to clarify any contractual relationship in writing, and such written 
clarification shall govern in case of conflict or ambiguity with the applicable requirements stated in the 
RFP or the Contractor’s proposal.  In all other matters not affected by the written clarification, if any, the 
RFP and its amendments shall govern. 

 
No modification or change of any provision in the Contract shall be made, or construed to have been 
made, unless such modification or change is mutually agreed upon in writing by the Contractor and 
DOM.  The agreed upon modification or change will be incorporated as a written contract amendment 
and processed through DOM for approval prior to the effective date of such modification or change.   

 
The only representatives authorized to modify this contract on behalf of DOM and the Contractor are 
shown below: 
 

Contractor:  Person(s) designated by the Contractor 
 
Division of Medicaid:  Executive Director 

4.2 PERFORMANCE STANDARDS, ACTUAL DAMAGES, LIQUIDATED 
DAMAGES, AND RETAINAGE 

 
DOM reserves the right to assess actual or liquidated damages, upon the Contractor’s failure to provide 
timely services required pursuant to this Contract.  DOM may assess liquidated damages against the 
Contractor pursuant to this section, and deduct the amount of the damages from any payments due the 
Contractor.  DOM, at its sole discretion, may establish an installment deduction plan for the amount of 
any damages. The determination of the amount of damages shall be at the sole discretion of DOM, within 
the ranges set forth below.  Self-reporting by the Contractor will be taken into consideration in 
determining the amount of damages to be assessed.  Unless specified otherwise, DOM will give written 
notice to the Contractor of the failure that might result in the assessment of damages and the proposed 
amount of the damages. The Contractor shall have fifteen (15) days from the date of the notice in which 
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to dispute DOM’s determination.  Unless a different amount is specifically set forth below, DOM may, at 
its sole discretion, assess damages between one dollar and zero cents ($1.00) and five thousand dollars 
and zero cents ($5,000.00) for each failure that occurs or remains uncorrected.  
 
Assessment of any actual or liquidated damages does not waive any other remedies available to DOM 
pursuant to this Contract or state or federal law. If liquidated damages are known to be insufficient then 
DOM has the right to pursue actual damages.  
 

1. Failure by Contractor to comply with reporting requirements set forth in this RFP. ($500.00 per 
instance, per day) 

2. Failure by Contractor to submit by the due date any material required by the Contract.  DOM will 
give written notice to Contractor, via email, fax, overnight mail, or through regular mail, of the 
late material.  The Contractor shall have ten (10) calendar days following receipt of the notice in 
which to cure the failure by submitting the complete and accurate material.  If the material has not 
been submitted within the ten (10) calendar day period, DOM, without further notice, may assess 
damages. ($500.00 per instance, per day) 

3. Any other failure of Contractor that DOM determines constitutes a substantial non-compliance 
with any material term of the Contractor and/or RFP not specifically enumerated herein. 

If the Contractor’s failure to perform satisfactorily exposes DOM to the likelihood of contracting with 
another person or entity to perform services required of the Contractor under this Contract, upon notice 
setting forth the services and retainage, DOM may withhold from the Contractor payments in an amount 
commensurate with the costs anticipated to be incurred.  If costs are incurred, DOM shall account to the 
Contractor and return any excess to the Contractor.  If the retainage is not sufficient, the Contractor shall 
immediately reimburse DOM the difference or DOM may offset from any payments due the Contractor.  
The Contractor will cooperate fully with the retained Contractor and provide any assistance it needs to 
implement the terms of its agreement for services for retainage. 

4.3 TERM OF CONTRACT 
 
DOM will award a Contract based on proposals.  The Contract period begins on March 1, 2015 and shall 
terminate on February 28, 2016.  DOM may have, under the same terms and conditions as the existing 
contract, an option for four (1) one-year extensions, provided the parties mutually agree upon each 
extension. 

4.3.1 Stop Work Order 

1. Order to Stop Work – The DOM Contract Administrator may, by written order to the Contractor 
at any time and without notice to any surety, require the Contractor to stop all or any part of the 
work called for by this Contract.  This order shall be for a specified period not exceeding ninety 
(90) days after the order is delivered to the Contractor, unless the parties agree to any further 
period.  Any such order shall be identified specifically as a stop work order issued pursuant to this 
clause.  Upon receipt of such an order, the Contractor shall forthwith comply with its terms and 
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take all reasonable steps to minimize the occurrence of costs allocable to the work covered by the 
order during the period of work stoppage.  Before the stop work order expires, or within any 
further period to which the parties shall have agreed, the DOM Contract Administrator shall 
either: 
 
a. Cancel the stop work order; or 
b. Terminate the work covered by such order as provided in the “Termination for Default 

Clause” or the “Termination for Convenience Clause” of this Contract. 
 

2. Cancellation or Expiration of the Order - If a stop work order issued under this clause is canceled 
at any time during the period specified in the order, or if the period of the order or any extension 
thereof expires, the Contractor shall have the right to resume work.  An appropriate adjustment 
shall be made in the delivery schedule or Contractor price, or both, and the Contract shall be 
modified in writing accordingly, if: 
 
a. The stop work order results in an increase in the time required for, or in the Contractor’s cost 

properly allocable to, the performance of any part of this Contract; and 
The Contractor asserts a claim for such an adjustment within thirty (30) days after the end of 
the period of work stoppage; provided that, if the DOM Contract Administrator decides that 
the facts justify such action, any such claim asserted may be received and acted upon at any 
time prior to final payment under this Contract. 

3. Termination of Stopped Work - If a stop work order or extension is not canceled and the work 
covered by such order is terminated for default or convenience, the reasonable costs resulting 
from the stop work order shall be allowed by adjustment or otherwise. 

4. Adjustments of Price: Any adjustment in contract price made pursuant to this clause shall be 
negotiated between DOM and the Contractor. 

4.3.2 Termination of Contract 

The Contract resulting from this RFP may be terminated by DOM as follows: 
 

1. For default by the Contractor; 
2. For convenience; 
3. For the Contractor’s bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership, liquidation; and, 
4. For non-availability of funds. 

 
At DOM’s option, termination for any reason listed herein may also be considered termination for 
convenience. 

4.3.2.1 Termination for Default by the Contractor 

DOM may immediately terminate this contract in whole or in part whenever DOM determines that the 
Contractor has failed to satisfactorily perform its contractual duties and responsibilities and is unable to 
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resolve such failure within a period of time specified by DOM, after considering the gravity and nature of 
the default. Such termination shall be referred to herein as “Termination for Default.” 

 
Upon determination by DOM of any such failure to satisfactorily perform its contractual duties and 
responsibilities, DOM may notify the Contractor of the failure and establish a reasonable time period in 
which to resolve such failure.  If the Contractor does not resolve the failure within the specified time 
period, DOM will notify the Contractor that the Contract in full or in part has been terminated for default.  
Such notices shall be in writing and delivered to the Contractor by certified mail, return receipt requested, 
or in person. 
 
If, after Notice of Termination for default, it is determined that the Contractor was not in default or that 
the Contractor’s failure to perform or make progress in performance was due to causes beyond the control 
and without error or negligence on the part of the Contractor or any sub-contractor, the Notice of 
Termination shall be deemed to have been issued as a termination for the convenience of DOM, and the 
rights and obligations of the parties shall be governed accordingly. 
 
In the event of Termination for Default, in full or in part as provided by this clause, DOM may procure, 
upon such terms and in such manner as DOM may deem appropriate, supplies or services similar to those 
terminated, and the Contractor shall be liable to DOM for any excess costs for such similar supplies or 
services for the remainder of the Contract period. In addition, the Contractor shall be liable to DOM for 
administrative costs incurred by DOM in procuring such similar supplies or services. 
 
In the event of a Termination for Default, the Contractor may be paid for those deliverables which the 
Contractor has delivered to DOM.  Payments for completed deliverables delivered to and accepted by 
DOM shall be at the contract price. 

 
The rights and remedies of DOM provided in this clause shall not be exclusive and are in addition to any 
other rights and remedies provided by law or under the Contract. 

4.3.2.2 Termination for Convenience 

DOM may terminate performance of work under the Contract in whole or in part whenever for any reason 
DOM shall determine that such termination is in the best interest of DOM. 
 
In the event that DOM elects to terminate the Contract pursuant to this provision, it shall notify the 
Contractor by certified mail, return receipt requested, or delivered in person.  Termination shall be 
effective as of the close of business on the date specified in the notice, which shall be at least thirty (30) 
days from the date of receipt of the notice by the Contractor. 

 
Upon receipt of Notice of Termination for convenience, the Contractor shall be paid the following: 

 
• The contract price(s) for completed deliverables delivered to and accepted by DOM; and, 
• A price commensurate with the actual cost of performance for partially completed deliverables. 
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4.3.2.3 Termination for the Contractor Bankruptcy 

In the event that the Contractor shall cease conducting business in the normal course, become insolvent, 
make a general assignment for the benefit of creditors, suffer or permit the appointment of a receiver for 
its business or its assets, or shall avail itself of, or become subject to, any proceeding under the 
Bankruptcy Reform Act of 1978 or any other federal or state statute relating to insolvency or the 
protection of the rights of creditors, DOM may, at its option, terminate this Contract in whole or in part.   

 
In the event DOM elects to terminate the Contract under this provision, it shall do so by sending Notice of 
Termination to the Contractor by certified mail, return receipt requested, or delivered in person.  The date 
of termination shall be the close of business on the date specified in such notice to the Contractor.  In the 
event of the filing of a petition in bankruptcy by or against a principal subcontractor, the Contractor shall 
immediately so advise DOM.   

 
The Contractor shall ensure and shall satisfactorily demonstrate to DOM that all tasks related to the 
subcontract are performed in accordance with the terms of this contract. 

4.3.2.4 Availability of Funds 

It is expressly understood and agreed that the obligation of DOM to proceed under this Contract is 
conditioned upon the appropriation of funds by the Mississippi State Legislature and the receipt of state 
and/or federal funds.  If the funds anticipated for the continuing fulfillment of the Contract are, at any 
time, not forthcoming or insufficient, either through the failure of the federal government to provide funds 
or of the State of Mississippi to appropriate funds or the discontinuance or material alteration of the 
program under which the funds were provided or if funds are not otherwise available to DOM, DOM shall 
have the right upon ten (10) working days written notice to the Contractor, to terminate this Contract 
without damage, penalty, cost, or expense to DOM of any kind whatsoever.  The effective date of 
termination shall be as specified in the notice of termination. 

4.3.3 Procedure on Termination 

4.3.3.1 Contractor Responsibilities 

Upon delivery by certified mail, return receipt requested, or in person to the Contractor a Notice of 
Termination specifying the nature of the termination, the extent to which performance of work under the 
Contract is terminated, and the date upon which such termination becomes effective, the Contractor shall: 
 

1. Stop work under the Contract on the date and to the extent specified in the Notice of Termination; 

2. Place no further orders or subcontracts for materials, services or facilities, except as may be 
necessary for completion of such portion of the work in progress under the Contract until the 
effective date of termination;  

3. Terminate all orders and subcontracts to the extent that they relate to the performance of work 
terminated by the Notice of Termination; 
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4. Deliver to DOM within the time frame as specified by DOM in the Notice of Termination, copies 
of all data and documentation in the appropriate media and make available all records required to 
assure continued delivery of services to beneficiaries and  providers at no cost to DOM; 

5. Complete the performance of the work not terminated by the Notice of Termination; 

6. Take such action as may be necessary, or as DOM may direct, for the protection and preservation 
of the property related to the Contract which is in the possession of the Contractor and in which 
DOM has or may acquire an interest; 

7. Fully train DOM staff or other individuals at the direction of DOM in the operation and 
maintenance of the process; 

8. Promptly transfer all information necessary for the reimbursement of any outstanding claims; and 

9. Complete each portion of the Turnover Phase after receipt of the Notice of Termination.  The 
Contractor shall proceed immediately with the performance of the above obligations 
notwithstanding any allowable delay in determining or adjusting the amount of any item of 
reimbursable price under this clause. 

The Contractor has an absolute duty to cooperate and help with the orderly transition of the duties to 
DOM or its designated Contractor following termination of the Contract for any reason. 

4.3.3.2 DOM Responsibilities 

Except for Termination for Contractor Default, DOM will make payment to the Contractor on termination 
and at contract price for completed deliverables delivered to and accepted by DOM.  The Contractor shall 
be reimbursed for partially completed deliverables, accepted by DOM, at a price commensurate with 
actual cost of performance. 
 
In the event of the failure of the Contractor and DOM to agree in whole or in part as to the amounts to be 
paid to the Contractor in connection with any termination described in this RFP, DOM shall determine on 
the basis of information available the amount, if any, due to the Contractor by reason of termination and 
shall pay to the Contractor the amount so determined. 

 
The Contractor shall have the right of appeal, as stated under Disputes (Paragraph 4.9.5) from any such 
determination made by DOM. 

4.3.4 Assignment of the Contract 

The Contractor shall not sell, transfer, assign, or otherwise dispose of the Contract or any portion thereof 
or of any right, title, or interest therein without the prior written consent of DOM.  Any such purported 
assignment or transfer shall be void.  If approved, any assignee shall be subject to all terms and conditions 
of this contract and other supplemental contractual documents.  No approval by DOM of any assignment 
may be deemed to obligate DOM beyond the provisions of this Contract.  This provision includes 
reassignment of the Contract due to change in ownership of the Contractor.  DOM shall at all times be 
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entitled to assign or transfer its rights, duties, and/or obligations under this Contract to another 
governmental agency in the State of Mississippi upon giving prior written notice to the Contractor. 

4.3.5 Excusable Delays/Force Majeure 

The Contractor and DOM shall be excused from performance under this contract for any period that they 
are prevented from performing any services under this Contract as a result of an act of God, war, civil 
disturbance, epidemic, court order, government act or omission, or other cause beyond their reasonable 
control.  When such a cause arises, the Consultant shall notify DOM immediately in writing of the cause 
of its inability to perform, how it affects its performance, and the anticipated duration of the inability to 
perform. Delays in delivery or in meeting completion dates due to force majeure events shall 
automatically extend such dates for a period equal to the duration of the delay caused by such events, 
unless DOM determines it to be in its best interest to terminate the Contract. 

4.3.6 Applicable Law  

The Contract shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Mississippi, 
excluding its conflict of laws provisions, and any litigation with respect thereto shall be brought in the 
courts of the State of Mississippi.  The Contractor shall comply with applicable federal, state, and local 
laws and regulations. 

4.4 NOTICES 
 
Whenever, under this RFP, one party is required to give notice to the other, except for purposes of Notice 
of Termination under Section 4.3, such notice shall be deemed given upon delivery, if delivered by hand, 
or upon the date of receipt or refusal, if sent by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested or by 
other carriers that require signature upon receipt.   Notice may be delivered by facsimile transmission, 
with original to follow by certified mail, return receipt requested, or by other carriers that require 
signature upon receipt, and shall be deemed given upon transmission and facsimile confirmation that it 
has been received.  Notices shall be addressed as follows: 
 
In case of notice to the Contractor: 
 
 Account Executive 
 Street Address 
 City, State Zip Code 
 
In case of notice to DOM: 

 
 Executive Director  
 Division of Medicaid 
 550 High St., Suite 1000 
 Jackson, Mississippi  39201 
 
 Copy to Contract Administrator, DOM 
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4.5 COST OR PRICING DATA 
 
If DOM determines that any price, including profit or fee, negotiated in connection with this RFP was 
increased because the Contractor furnished incomplete or inaccurate cost or pricing data not current as 
certified in the Contractor’s certification of current cost or pricing data, then such price or cost shall be 
reduced accordingly and this RFP shall be modified in writing and acknowledged by the Contractor to 
reflect such reduction. 

4.6 SUBCONTRACTING  
 
The Contractor is solely responsible for fulfillment of the Contract terms with DOM.  DOM will make 
Contract payments only to the Contractor. 
 
The Contractor shall not subcontract any portion of the services to be performed under this Contract 
without the prior written approval of DOM.  The Contractor shall notify DOM not less than thirty (30) 
days in advance of its desire to subcontract and include a copy of the proposed subcontract with the 
proposed subcontractor. 
 
Approval of any subcontract shall neither obligate DOM nor the State of Mississippi as a party to that 
subcontract nor create any right, claim, or interest for the subcontractor against the State of Mississippi or 
DOM, their agents, their employees, their representatives, or successors. 
 
Any subcontract shall be in writing and shall contain provisions such that it is consistent with the 
Contractor’s obligations pursuant to this Contract. 
 
The Contractor shall be solely responsible for the performance of any subcontractor under such 
subcontract approved by DOM. 
 
The Contractor shall give DOM immediate written notice by certified mail, facsimile, or any other carrier 
that requires signature upon receipt of any action or suit filed and prompt notice of any claim made 
against the Contractor or subcontractor which in the opinion of the Contractor may result in litigation 
related in any way to the Contract with DOM. 
 
4.7 PROPRIETARY RIGHTS 

4.7.1 Ownership of Documents 

Where activities supported by this contract produce original writing, sound recordings, pictorial 
reproductions, drawings, or other graphic representation and works of any similar nature, DOM shall have 
the right to use, duplicate, and disclose such materials in whole or in part, in any manner, for any purpose 
whatsoever and to have others do so.  If the material is qualified for copyright, the Contractor may 
copyright such material, with approval of DOM, but DOM shall reserve a royalty-free, non-exclusive, and 
irrevocable license to reproduce, publish, and use such materials, in whole or in part, and to authorize 
others to do so. 
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4.7.2 Ownership of Information and Data 

DOM, The Department of Health and Human Services (DHHS), The Centers for Medicare and Medicaid 
Services (CMS), the State of Mississippi, and/or their agents shall have unlimited rights to use, disclose, 
or duplicate, for any purpose whatsoever, all information and data developed, derived, documented, or 
furnished by the Contractor under any contract resulting from this RFP. 

 
The Contractor agrees to grant in its own behalf and on behalf of its agents, employees, representatives, 
assignees, and subcontractors to DOM, DHHS, CMS and the State of Mississippi and to their officers, 
agents, and employees acting in their official capacities a royalty-free, non-exclusive, and irrevocable 
license throughout the world to publish, reproduce, translate, deliver, and dispose of all such information 
now covered by copyright of the proposed Contractor. 

 
Excluded from the foregoing provisions in this Section 4.7.2, however, are any pre-existing, proprietary 
tools owned, developed, or otherwise obtained by Contractor independent of this Contract.  Contractor is 
and shall remain the owner of all rights, title, and interest in and to the Proprietary Tools, including all 
copyright, patent, trademark, trade secret, and all other proprietary rights thereto arising under federal and 
state law, and no license or other right to the Proprietary Tools is granted or otherwise implied.  Any right 
that DOM may have with respect to the Proprietary Tools shall arise only pursuant to a separate written 
agreement between the parties.  

4.7.3 Public Information 

Offerors must provide an electronic, single document version of its proposal, redacting those provisions 
of the proposal which contain trade secrets or other proprietary data which they believe may remain 
confidential in accordance with Section 25-61-9 of the Mississippi Code Annotated of 1972, as amended. 

4.7.4 Right of Inspection 

DOM, the Mississippi Department of Audit, The Department of Health and Human Services (DHHS), 
The Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS), the Office of Inspector General (OIG), the 
General Accounting Office (GAO), or any other auditing agency prior-approved by DOM, or their 
authorized representative shall, at all reasonable times, have the right to enter onto the Contractor’s 
premises, or such other places where duties under this Contract are being performed, to inspect, monitor, 
or otherwise evaluate (including periodic systems testing) the work being performed. The Contractor must 
provide access to all facilities and assistance for DOM and Mississippi Audit Department representatives.  
All inspections and evaluations shall be performed in such a manner as will not unduly delay work.  
Refusal by the Contractor to allow access to all documents, papers, letters, or other materials, shall 
constitute a breach of contract.  All audits performed by persons other than DOM staff will be coordinated 
through DOM and its staff. 
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4.7.5 Licenses, Patents and Royalties 

DOM does not tolerate the possession or use of unlicensed copies of proprietary software. The Contractor 
shall be responsible for any penalties or fines imposed as a result of unlicensed or otherwise defectively 
titled software. 
 
The Contractor, without exception, shall indemnify, save, and hold harmless DOM, its employees, and 
the State of Mississippi from liability of any nature or kind, including cost and expenses for or on account 
of any copyrighted, patented, or non-patented invention, process, or article manufactured by the 
Contractor.  DOM will provide prompt written notification of a claim of copyright or patent infringement. 
 
Further, if such a claim is made or is pending, the Contractor may, at its option and expense, procure for 
DOM the right to continue use of, replace or modify the article to render it non-infringing. If none of the 
alternatives are reasonably available, the Contractor agrees to take back the article and refund the total 
amount DOM has paid the Contractor under this Contract for use of the article.  

 
If the Contractor uses any design, device, or materials covered by letters, patent, or copyright, it is 
mutually agreed and understood without exception that the proposed prices shall include all royalties or 
costs arising from the use of such design, device, or materials in any way involved in the work. 

4.7.6 Records Retention Requirements 

The Contractor shall maintain detailed records evidencing all expenses incurred pursuant to the Contract, 
the provision of services under the Contract, and complaints, for the purpose of audit and evaluation by 
DOM and other federal or State personnel.  All records, including training records, pertaining to the 
Contract must be readily retrievable within three (3) workdays for review at the request of DOM and its 
authorized representatives.  All records shall be maintained and available for review by authorized federal 
and State personnel during the entire term of the Contract and for a period of six (6) years thereafter, 
unless an audit is in progress or there is pending litigation.  When an audit or pending litigation has not 
been completed at the end of the six (6) year period, records shall be retained until all issues are finally 
resolved. 

4.8 REPRESENTATION REGARDING CONTINGENT FEES 
 
The Contractor represents that it has not retained a person to solicit or secure a State contract upon an 
agreement or understanding for a commission, percentage, brokerage, or contingent fee, except as 
disclosed in the Contractor’s bid or proposal. 

4.9 INTERPRETATIONS/CHANGES/DISPUTES 
 
The RFP in its entirety is a part of the Contract.  In the event of a dispute or conflict among any of the 
components of the Contract, the Contract shall govern.  Refer to priority specified in Section 4.1.  All the 
documents shall be read and construed as far as possible to be one harmonious whole; however, in the 
event of a conflict or dispute, the above list is the list of priority. 
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DOM reserves the right to clarify any contractual relationship in writing and such clarification will 
govern in case of conflict with the requirements of the RFP.  Any ambiguity in the RFP shall be construed 
in favor of DOM. 
 
The Contract represents the entire agreement between the Contractor and DOM and it supersedes all prior 
negotiations, representations, or agreements, either written or oral between the parties hereto relating to 
the subject matter hereof. 

4.9.1 Conformance with Federal and State Regulations 

The Contractor shall be required to conform to all federal and state laws, regulations, and policies as they 
exist or as amended. 
 
In the event that the Contractor requests that the Executive Director of DOM or his/her designee issue 
policy determinations or operating guidelines required for proper performance of the Contract, DOM shall 
do so in a timely manner.  The Contractor shall be entitled to rely upon and act in accordance with such 
policy determinations and operating guidelines unless the Contractor acts negligently, maliciously, 
fraudulently, or in bad faith.  
 
The Contractor expressly agrees to all of the provisions and requirements as set forth in the State Plan for 
Medical Assistance approved by the State of Mississippi and by the Secretary of the United States 
Department of Health and Human Services, pursuant to Title XIX of the Social Security Act, and 
understands those provisions and requirements are also incumbent on the Contractor. 

4.9.2 Waiver 

No assent, expressed or implied, by the parties hereto to the breach of the provisions or conditions of this 
Agreement shall be deemed or taken to be a waiver of any succeeding breach of the same or any other 
provision or condition and shall not be construed to be a modification of the terms of this Contract.  
 
Moreover, no delay or omission by either party to this Contract in exercising any right, power, or remedy 
hereunder or otherwise afforded by contract, at law, or in equity shall constitute an acquiescence therein, 
impair any other right, power or remedy hereunder or otherwise afforded by any means, or operate as a 
waiver of such right, power, or remedy.   No waiver by either party to this Contract shall be valid unless 
set forth in writing by the party making said waiver.  No waiver of or modification to any term or 
condition of this Contract will void, waive, or change any other term or condition.  No waiver by one 
party to this Contract of a default by the other party will imply, be construed as or require waiver of future 
or other defaults. 

4.9.3 Severability 

If any part, term or provision of the Contract (including items incorporated by reference) is held by the 
courts or other judicial body to be illegal or in conflict with any law of the State of Mississippi or any 
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federal law, the validity of the remaining portions or provisions shall not be affected and the obligations 
of the parties shall be construed in full force as if the Contract did not contain that particular part, term or 
provision held to be invalid. 

4.9.4 Change Orders and/or Amendments 

The Executive Director of DOM or designated representative may, at any time, by written order delivered 
to the Contractor at least thirty (30) days prior to the commencement date of such change, make 
administrative changes within the general scope of the Contract.  If any such change causes an increase or 
decrease in the cost of the performance of any part of the work under the Contract an adjustment 
commensurate with the costs of performance under this Contract shall be made in the contract price or 
delivery schedule or both.  Any claim by the Contractor for equitable adjustment under this clause must 
be asserted in writing to DOM within thirty (30) days from the date of receipt by the Contractor of the 
notification of change.  Failure to agree to any adjustment shall be a dispute within the meaning of the 
Disputes Clause of this Contract.  Nothing in this clause, however, shall in any manner excuse the 
Contractor from proceeding diligently with the Contract as changed. 
 
If the parties are unable to reach an agreement within thirty (30) days of DOM receipt of the Contractor’s 
cost estimate, the Executive Director of DOM shall make a determination of the revised price, and the 
Contractor shall proceed with the work according to a schedule approved by DOM subject to the 
Contractor’s right to appeal the Executive Director’s determination of the price pursuant to the Disputes 
clause.   

 
The rate of payment for changes or amendments completed per contract year shall be at the rates specified 
by the Contractor’s proposal.  

 
At any time during the term of this Contract, DOM may increase the quantity of goods or services 
purchased under this Contract by sending the Contractor a written amendment or modification to that 
effect which references this Contract and is signed by the Executive Director of DOM.  The purchase 
price shall be the lower of the unit cost identified in the Contractor’s proposal or the Contractor’s then-
current, published price.  The foregoing shall not apply to services provided to DOM at no charge.  The 
delivery schedule for any items added by exercise of this option shall be set by mutual agreement.  

4.9.5 Disputes 

Any dispute concerning the Contract which is not disposed of by agreement shall be decided by the 
Executive Director of DOM who shall reduce such decision to writing and mail or otherwise furnish a 
copy thereof to the Contractor.  The decision of the Executive Director shall be final and conclusive.     
Nothing in this paragraph shall be construed to relieve the Contractor of full and diligent performance of 
the Contract. 
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4.9.6 Cost of Litigation 

In the event that DOM deems it necessary to take legal action to enforce any provision of the Contract, 
the Contractor shall bear the cost of such litigation, as assessed by the court, in which DOM prevails.   
Neither the State of Mississippi nor DOM shall bear any of the Contractor’s cost of litigation for any legal 
actions initiated by the Contractor against DOM regarding the provisions of the Contract.  Legal action 
shall include administrative proceedings. 

4.9.7 Attorney Fees 

The Contractor agrees to pay reasonable attorney fees incurred by the State and DOM in enforcing this 
Contract or otherwise reasonably related thereto. 

4.10 INDEMNIFICATION 
 
The Contractor agrees to indemnify, defend, save, and hold harmless DOM, the State of Mississippi, their 
officers, agents, employees, representatives, assignees, and contractors from any and all claims and losses 
accruing or resulting to any and all the Contractor employees, agents,  subcontractors, laborers, and any 
other person, association, partnership, entity, or corporation furnishing or supplying work, services, 
materials, or supplies in connection with performance of this Contract, and from any and all claims and 
losses accruing or resulting to any such person, association, partnership, entity, or corporation who may 
be injured, damaged, or suffer any loss by the Contractor in the performance of the Contract. 

 
The Contractor agrees to indemnify, defend, save, and hold harmless DOM, the State of Mississippi, their 
officers, agents, employees, representatives, assignees, and contractors against any and all liability, loss, 
damage, costs or expenses which DOM may sustain, incur or be required to pay:  1.) by reason of any 
person suffering personal injury, death or property loss or damage of any kind either while participating 
with or receiving services from the Contractor under this Contract, or while on premises owned, leased, or 
operated by the Contractor or while being transported to or from said premises in any vehicle owned, 
operated, leased, chartered, or otherwise contracted for or in the control of the Contractor or any officer, 
agent, or employee thereof; or 2.) by reason of the Contractor or its employee, agent, or person within its 
scope of authority of this Contract causing injury to, or damage to the person or property of a person 
including but not limited to DOM or the Contractor, their employees or agents, during any time when the 
Contractor or any officer, agent, employee thereof has undertaken or is furnishing the services called for 
under this Contract. 
 
The Contractor agrees to indemnify, defend, save, and hold harmless DOM, the State of Mississippi, their 
officers, agents, employees, representatives, assignees, and contractors against any and all liability, loss, 
damages, costs or expenses which DOM or the State may incur, sustain or be required to pay by reason of 
the Contractor, its employees, agents or assigns:  1.) failing to honor copyright, patent or licensing rights 
to software, programs or technology of any kind in providing services to DOM, or 2.) breaching in any 
manner the confidentiality required pursuant to federal and state law and regulations. 
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The Contractor agrees to indemnify, defend, save, and hold harmless DOM, the State of Mississippi, their 
officers, agents, employees, representatives, assignees, and contractors from all claims, demands, 
liabilities, and suits of any nature whatsoever arising out of the Contract because of any breach of the 
Contract by the Contractor, its agents or employees, including but not limited to any occurrence of 
omission or commission or negligence of the Contractor, its agents or employees.  
 
If in the reasonable judgment of DOM a default by the Contractor is not so substantial as to require 
termination and reasonable efforts to induce the Contractor to cure the default are unsuccessful and the 
default is capable of being cured by DOM or by another resource without unduly interfering with the 
continued performance of the Contractor, DOM may provide or procure such services as are reasonably 
necessary to correct the default.  In such event, the Contractor shall reimburse DOM for the entire cost of 
those services.  DOM may deduct the cost of those services from the Contractor’s monthly administrative 
invoices.  The Contractor shall cooperate with DOM or those procured resources in allowing access to 
facilities, equipment, data, or any other contractor resources to which access is required to correct the 
default.  The Contractor shall remain liable for ensuring that all operational performance standards remain 
satisfied. 

4.10.1 No Limitation of Liability 

Nothing in this contract shall be interpreted as excluding or limiting any liability of the Contractor for 
harm caused by the intentional or reckless conduct of the Contractor, or for damages incurred in the 
negligent performance of duties by the Contractor, or for the delivery by the Contractor of products that 
are defective, or for breach of contract or any other duty by the Contractor.  Nothing in the Contract shall 
be interpreted as waiving the liability of the Contractor for consequential, special, indirect, incidental, 
punitive, or exemplary loss, damage, or expense related to the Contractor’s conduct or performance under 
this Contract.  

4.10.2 Third Party Action Notification 

Contractor shall give DOM prompt notice in writing of any action or suit filed, and prompt notice of any 
claim made against Contractor by any entity that may result in litigation related in any way to this 
Contract. 

4.11 STATUS OF THE CONTRACTOR 

4.11.1 Independent Contractor 

It is expressly agreed that the Contractor is an Independent Contractor performing professional services 
for DOM and is not an officer or employee of the State of Mississippi or DOM. It is further expressly 
agreed that the Contract shall not be construed as a partnership or joint venture between the Contractor 
and DOM. 
 
The Contractor shall be solely responsible for all applicable taxes, insurance, licensing and other costs of 
doing business.  Should the Contractor default on these or other responsibilities jeopardizing the 
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Contractor’s ability to perform services effectively, DOM, in its sole discretion, may terminate this 
Contract. 
 
The Contractor, and all staff and subcontractors of Contractor performing work under the Contract, must 
undergo a criminal background screening, including fingerprinting. Contractor, and subcontractors, shall 
retain each staff member’s background check documentation for a period of three (3) years following 
contract termination 

 
The Contractor shall not purport to bind DOM, its officers or employees nor the State of Mississippi to 
any obligation not expressly authorized herein unless DOM has expressly given the Contractor the 
authority to do so in writing. 
 
No other agreements of any kind may be made by the Contractor with any other party for furnishing any 
information or data accumulated by the Contractor under this Contract or used in the operation of this 
program without the written approval of DOM.  Specifically, DOM reserves the right to review any data 
released from reports, histories, or data files created pursuant to this Contract. 
 
In no way shall the Contractor represent itself directly or by inference as a representative of the State of 
Mississippi or DOM except within the confines of its role as an Independent Contractor for DOM.  
DOM’s approval must be received in all instances in which the Contractor distributes publications, 
presents seminars or workshops, or performs any other outreach. 
 
The Contractor shall not use DOM’s name or refer to the Contract directly or indirectly in any 
advertisement, news release, professional trade or business presentation without prior written approval 
from DOM.    

4.11.2 Employment of DOM Employees 

The Contractor shall not knowingly engage on a full-time, part-time, or other basis during the period of 
the Contract, any professional or technical personnel who are or have been at any time during the period 
of the Contract in the employ of DOM, without the written consent of DOM.  Further, the Contractor 
shall not knowingly engage in this project, on a full-time, part-time, or other basis during the period of the 
Contract, any former employee of DOM who has not been separated from DOM for at least one (1) year, 
without the written consent of DOM. 
 
The Contractor shall give priority consideration to hiring interested and qualified adversely affected State 
employees at such times as requested by DOM to the extent permitted by this Contract or state law.  

4.11.3 Conflict of Interest 

No official or employee of DOM and no other public official of the State of Mississippi or the Federal 
Government who exercises any functions or responsibilities in the review or approval of the undertaking 
or carrying out of the project shall, prior to the completion of the project, voluntarily acquire any personal 
interest, direct or indirect, in the Contract or proposed contract. A violation of this provision shall 
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constitute grounds for termination of this Contract.  In addition, such violation will be reported to the 
State Ethics Commission, Attorney General, and appropriate federal law enforcement officers for review. 

 
The Contractor covenants that it presently has no interest and shall not acquire any interest, direct or 
indirect, which would conflict in any manner or degree with the performance of its services hereunder. 
The Contractor further covenants that in the performance of the Contract no person having any such 
known interests shall be employed including subsidiaries or entities that could be misconstrued as having 
a joint relationship, and  no immediate family members of Medicaid providers shall be employed by the 
Contractor. 

4.11.4 Personnel Practices 

All employees of the Contractor involved in the Medicaid function will be paid as any other employee of 
the Contractor who works in another area of their organization in a similar position.  The Contractor shall 
develop any and all methods to encourage longevity in Contractor’s staff assigned to this Contract. 
 
Employees of the Contractor shall receive all benefits afforded to other similarly situated employees of 
the Contractor.   
 
The Contractor must agree to sign the Drug Free Workplace Certificate (Exhibit 1). 

4.11.5 No Property Rights 

No property rights inure to the Contractor except for compensation for work that has already been 
performed.   

4.12 EMPLOYMENT PRACTICES 
 
The Contractor understands that DOM is an equal opportunity employer and therefore, maintains a policy 
which prohibits unlawful discrimination based on race, color, creed, religion, sex, age, national origin, 
physical handicap, disability, genetic information, political affiliation, ancestry, limited English 
proficiency, or any other consideration made unlawful by federal, State, or local laws.   All such 
discrimination is unlawful and the Contractor agrees during the term of the Contract that the Contractor 
will strictly adhere to this policy in its employment practices and provision of services, including, but not 
limited to, hiring, termination/discharge, promotion/demotion, or other terms and conditions of 
employment.  The Contractor shall comply with, and all activities under this Contract shall be subject to, 
all applicable federal, State of Mississippi, and local laws and regulations, as now existing and as may be 
amended or modified. 
 
The Contractor agrees to post in conspicuous places, available to employees and applicants for 
employment notices setting forth the provisions of this clause. 
 
The Contractor shall, in all solicitations or advertisements for employees placed by or on behalf of the 
Contractor, state that all qualified applicants will receive consideration for employment without regard to 
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race, color, creed, religion, sex, age, national origin,  physical handicap, disability, genetic information, 
political affiliation, ancestry, limited English proficiency, or any other consideration made unlawful by 
federal, State, or local laws, except where it relates to a bona fide occupational qualification or 
requirement. 
 
The Contractor shall comply with the non-discrimination clause contained in Federal Executive Order 
11246, as amended by Federal Executive Order 11375, relative to Equal Employment Opportunity for all 
persons without regard to race, color, religion, sex, or national origin, and the implementing rules and 
regulations prescribed by the Secretary of Labor and with Title 41, Code of Federal Regulations, Chapter 
60.  The Contractor shall comply with related state laws and regulations, if any. 
 
The Contractor shall comply with the Civil Rights Act of 1964, and any amendments thereto, and the 
rules and regulations thereunder, and Section 504 of Title V of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, as 
amended, and related State laws and regulations, if any. 
 
If DOM finds that the Contractor is not in compliance with any of these requirements at any time during 
the term of this Contract, DOM reserves the right to terminate this Contract or take such other steps as it 
deems appropriate, in its sole discretion, considering the interests and welfare of the State. 

4.13 OWNERSHIP AND FINANCIAL INFORMATION 

4.13.1 Information To Be Disclosed 

In accordance with 42 C.F.R. § 455.104(b), the Contractor shall disclose the following: 
 

1. The name and address of any individual or corporation with an ownership or control interest in the 
disclosing entity, DOM’s fiscal agent, or managed care entity. The address for corporate entities must 
include as applicable primary business, every business location, and P.O. Box address; 

2. Date of birth and Social Security Number (in the case of an individual); 
3. Other tax identification number (in the case of a corporation) with an ownership or control interest in 

the disclosing entity (or DOM’s fiscal agent or managed care entity) or in any subcontractor in which 
the disclosing entity (or DOM’s fiscal agent or managed care entity) has a five percent (5%) or more 
interest; 

4. Whether the individual or corporation with an ownership or control interest in the disclosing entity (or 
DOM’s fiscal agent or managed care entity) is related to another person with ownership or control 
interest in the disclosing entity as a spouse, parent, child, or sibling; or whether the individual or 
corporation with an ownership or control interest in any subcontractor in which the disclosing entity 
(or DOM’s fiscal agent or managed care entity) has a five percent (5%) or more interest is related to 
another person with ownership or control interest in the disclosing entity as a spouse, parent, child, or 
sibling;  

5. The name of any other disclosing entity (or DOM’s fiscal agent or managed care entity) in which an 
owner of the disclosing entity (or DOM’s fiscal agent or managed care entity) has an ownership or 
control interest; and, 
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6. The name, address, date of birth, and Social Security Number of any managing employee of the 
disclosing entity (or DOM’s fiscal agent or managed care entity).   

4.13.2 When Information Will Be Disclosed 

In accordance with 42 C.F.R. § 455.104(c), disclosures from the Contractor are due at any of the 
following times: 

 
1. Upon the Contractor submitting a proposal in accordance with the State’s procurement process; 
2. Annually, including upon the execution, renewal, and extension of the Contract with the State; and, 
3. Within thirty-five (35) days after any change in ownership of the Contractor.  

4.13.3 To Whom Information Will Be Disclosed 

In accordance with 42 C.F.R. § 455.104(d), all disclosures must be provided to DOM, the State’s 
designated Medicaid agency. 

4.13.4 Federal Financial Participation 

In accordance with 42 C.F.R. § 455.104(e), Federal Financial Participation (FFP) is not available in 
payments made to a disclosing entity that fails to disclose ownership or control information as required by 
said section. 

4.13.5 Information Related to Business Transactions 

In accordance with 42 C.F.R. § 455.105, the Contractor must fully disclose all information related to 
business transactions. The Contractor must submit, within thirty-five (35) days of the date on a request by 
the Secretary or DOM, full and complete information about: 

 
4. The ownership of any subcontractor with whom the Contractor has had business transactions 

totaling more than twenty-five thousand dollars and zero cents ($25,000.00) during the 12-month 
period ending on the date of the request; and, 
 

2. Any significant business transactions between the Contractor and any wholly owned supplier, or 
between the Contractor and any subcontractor, during the 5-year period ending on the date of the 
request. 

4.13.6 Disclosure of Identity of Any Person Convicted of a Criminal Offense 

In accordance with 42 C.F.R. § 455.106(a), the Contractor must disclose to DOM the identity of any 
person who: 
 

1. Has ownership or control interest in the Contractor, or is an agent or managing employee of the 
Contractor; and, 
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2. Has been convicted of a criminal offense related to that person’s involvement in any program 
under Medicare, Medicaid, or the Title XX services program since the inception of those 
programs. 

4.13.7 Disclosure to the Inspector General 

In accordance with 42 C.F.R. § 455.106(b), DOM must notify the Inspector General of the Department of 
any disclosures under § 455.106(a) within twenty (20) working days from the date it receives the 
information. DOM must also promptly notify the Inspector General of the Department of any action it 
takes on the Contractor’s agreement and participation in the program. 

4.13.8 DOM’s Right of Refusal 

In accordance with 42 C.F.R. § 455.106(c), DOM may refuse to enter into or renew an agreement with a 
Contractor if any person who has an ownership or control interest in the Contractor, or who is an agent or 
managing employee of the Contractor, has been convicted of a criminal offense related to that person’s 
involvement in any program established under Medicare, Medicaid, or the Title XX Services Program. 
Further, DOM may refuse to enter into or may terminate a Contractor agreement if it determines that the 
Contractor did not fully and accurately make any disclosure required under 42 C.F.R. § 455.106(a). 

4.13.9 Additional Requirements of DOM and Contractors 

In accordance with 42 C.F.R. § 455.436, the State Medicaid agency and all Medicaid contractors shall do 
the following: 
 

1. Confirm the identity and determine the exclusion status of contractors/subcontractors and any 
person with an ownership or control interest or who is an agent or managing employee of the 
contractor/subcontractor through routine checks of federal databases; and,   

 
2.  Consult appropriate databases to confirm identity of the above-mentioned persons and entities by 

searching the List of Excluded Individuals/Entities (LEIE) and the System for Award 
Management (SAM) upon enrollment, re-enrollment, credentialing, or re-credentialing, and no 
less frequently than monthly thereafter, to ensure that the State does not pay federal funds to 
excluded persons or entities. 

4.14 RISK MANAGEMENT 
 
The Contractor may insure any portion of the risk under the provision of the Contract based upon the 
Contractor’s ability (size and financial reserves included) to survive a series of adverse experiences, 
including withholding of payment by DOM, or imposition of penalties by DOM. 
 
On or before beginning performance under this Contract, the Contractor shall obtain from an insurance 
company, duly authorized to do business and doing business in Mississippi, insurance as follows: 
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4.14.1 Workers’ Compensation 

The Contractor shall take out and maintain, during the life of this Contract, workers’ compensation 
insurance for all employees employed under the Contract in Mississippi.  Such insurance shall fully 
comply with the Mississippi Workers’ Compensation Law.  In case any class of employees engaged in 
hazardous work under this Contract at the site of the project is not protected under the Workers’ 
Compensation Statute, the Contractor shall provide adequate insurance satisfactory for protection of his or 
her employees not otherwise protected. 

4.14.2 Liability 

The Contractor shall ensure that professional staff and other decision making staff shall be required to 
carry professional liability insurance in an amount commensurate with the professional responsibilities 
and liabilities under the terms of this RFP and other supplemental contractual documents. 
 
The Contractor shall obtain, pay for, and keep in force during the Contract period general liability 
insurance against bodily injury or death in an amount commensurate with the responsibilities and 
liabilities under the terms of this RFP; and insurance against property damage and fire insurance 
including contents coverage for all records maintained pursuant to this Contract in an amount 
commensurate with the responsibilities and liabilities under the terms of this RFP.  On an annual basis, 
the Contractor shall furnish to DOM certificates evidencing such insurance is in effect on the first 
working day following contract signing.  Please put to the attention of the following DOM Offices: 
Contract Compliance, Procurement and Legal.  

4.15 CONFIDENTIALITY OF INFORMATION 

4.15.1 Confidentiality of Beneficiary Information 

All information as to personal facts and circumstances concerning Medicaid beneficiaries obtained by the 
Contractor shall be treated as privileged communications, shall be held confidential, and shall not be 
divulged without the written consent of DOM and the written consent of the enrolled beneficiary, his 
attorney, or his responsible parent or guardian, except as may be required by DOM.  
 
The use or disclosure of information concerning beneficiaries shall be limited to purposes directly 
connected with the administration of the Contract. 
 
All of the Contractor officers and employees performing any work for or on the Contract shall be 
instructed in writing of this confidentiality requirement and required to sign such a document upon 
employment and annually thereafter.   
 
The Contractor shall immediately notify DOM of any unauthorized possession, use, knowledge or attempt 
thereof, of DOM’s data files or other confidential information.  The Contractor shall immediately furnish 
DOM full details of the attempted unauthorized possession, use or knowledge, and assist in investigating 
or preventing the recurrence thereof. 
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This requirement of confidentiality survives the term of the agreement between DOM and Contractor. 

4.15.2 Release of Public Information 

After award of the Contract, all Offerors’ proposals, including the Technical Proposal, the Business 
Proposal, and any accompanying exhibits, attachments and appendices are subject to disclosure under the 
“Mississippi Public Records Act of 1983”, codified as section 25-61-1, et seq., Mississippi Code 
Annotated and any applicable exceptions, and the Federal Freedom of Information Act. Information 
specified by an Offeror as proprietary information shall be available for disclosure as provided by State 
statute, unless an Offeror seeks and is granted a protective order for the proprietary information.  
 
In the event that either party to this Contract receives notice that a third party requests divulgence of 
confidential or otherwise protected information and/or has served upon it a subpoena or other validly 
issued administrative or judicial process ordering divulgence of confidential or otherwise protected 
information, that party shall promptly inform the other party and thereafter respond in conformity with 
such subpoena to the extent mandated by law.  This provision shall survive termination or completion of 
this Contract.  The parties agree that this provision is subject to and superseded by Mississippi Code 
Annotated Section 25-61-1, et seq. (1972, as amended) regarding Public Access to Public Records. 

4.15.3 Transparency 

This contract, including any accompanying exhibits, attachments, and appendices, is subject to the 
“Mississippi Public Records Act of 1983,” and its exceptions. See Miss. Code Ann. §§ 25-61-1 et seq., 
(1972, as amended) and Miss. Code Ann. § 79-23-1 (1972, as amended). In addition, this contract is 
subject to the provisions of the Mississippi Accountability and Transparency Act of 2008. Miss. Code 
Ann. §§ 27-104-151 et seq. (1972, as amended).  
 
Unless exempted from disclosure due to a court-issued protective order, a copy of this executed contract 
is required to be posted to the Department of Finance and Administration’s independent agency contract 
website for public access at http://www.transparency.mississippi.gov/.  Prior to posting the Contract to the 
website, information identified by the Contractor as trade secrets, or other proprietary information, 
including confidential vendor information, or any other information which is required confidential by 
state or federal law or outside the applicable freedom of information statutes, will be redacted. 

4.16 THE CONTRACTOR COMPLIANCE ISSUES 
 
The Contractor agrees that all work performed as part of this contract will comply fully with 
administrative and other requirements established by federal and state laws, regulations and guidelines, 
and assumes responsibility for full compliance with all such laws, regulations and guidelines, and agrees 
to fully reimburse DOM for any loss of funds, resources, overpayments, duplicate payments, or incorrect 
payments resulting from noncompliance by the Contractor, its staff, or agents, as revealed in any audit.  In 
addition the Contractor agrees that all work performed will comply with all CMS guidelines necessary to 
maintain the enhanced funding provided by CMS for eligibility and enrollment systems development. 

http://www.transparency.mississippi.gov/
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4.16.1 Federal, State, and Local Taxes 

Unless otherwise provided herein, the contract price shall include all applicable federal, state, and local 
taxes. 

 
The Contractor shall pay all taxes lawfully imposed upon it with respect to this Contract or any product 
delivered in accordance herewith.  DOM makes no representation whatsoever as to exemption from 
liability to any tax imposed by any governmental entity on the Contractor. 

4.16.2 License Requirements 

The Contractor shall have, or obtain, any license/permits that are required prior to and during the 
performance of work under this Contract. 

4.16.3 HIPAA Compliance 

The Contractor shall execute DOM’s Business Associate Agreement (BAA), as well as any required 
Nondisclosure Agreement (NDA) or Data Use Agreement (DUA), before contract execution.  Offerors 
shall agree to the terms of the BAA and the DUA at the time the proposal is submitted.  See Sec. 5.2 item 
10 of this RFP. The BAA and DUA can be found on the Procurement Website at 
www.medicaid.ms.gov/resources/procurement.  Moreover, all activities under this Agreement shall be 
performed in accordance with all applicable federal and/or state laws, rules and/or regulations including 
the Administrative Simplification provisions of the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act 
of 1996 (HIPAA), as amended by the Genetic Information Nondiscrimination Act (GINA) of 2008 and 
the Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health Act (HITECH Act), Title XIII of 
Division A, and Title IV of Division B of the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009 
(ARRA), and their implementing regulations at 45 C.F.R. Parts 160, 162, and 164, involving electronic 
data interchange, code sets, identifiers, and the security and privacy of protected health information (PHI), 
as may be applicable to the services under this Contract. Each party to this Agreement shall treat all data 
and information to which it has access under this Agreement as confidential information to the extent that 
confidential treatment of same is required under federal and state law and shall not disclose same to a 
third party without specific written consent of the other party.  In the event that either party receives 
notice that a third party requested divulgence of the confidential or otherwise protected information 
and/or has served upon it a subpoena or other validly issued administrative or judicial process ordering 
divulgence of the confidential or otherwise protected information, the party shall promptly inform the 
other party and thereafter respond in conformity with such subpoena as required by applicable state 
and/or federal law, rules, and regulations.  The provision herein shall survive the termination of the 
Agreement for any reason and shall continue in full force and effect and shall be binding upon both 
parties and their agents, employees, successors, assigns subcontractors, or any party claiming an interest 
in the Contract on behalf of, or under, the rights of the parties following termination. 

4.16.4 Site Rules and Regulations 

The Contractor shall use its best efforts to ensure that its employees and agents, while on DOM premises, 
shall comply with site rules and regulations.  

http://www.medicaid.ms.gov/resources/procurement
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4.16.5 Environmental Protection 

The Contractor shall be in compliance with all applicable standards, orders or requirements issued under 
Section 306 of the Clean Air Act (42 USC § 7606), Section 508 of the Clean Water Act (33 USC § 1368), 
Executive Order 11738, and applicable United States Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) 
regulations which prohibit the use under non-exempt federal contracts, grants, or loans of facilities 
included on the EPA list of Violating Facilities. The Contractor shall report violations to the applicable 
grantor federal agency and the EPA Assistant Administrator for Enforcement. 

4.16.6 Lobbying 

The Contractor certifies, to the best of its knowledge and belief, that no federal appropriated funds have 
been paid or will be paid, by or on behalf of the Contractor to any person for influencing or attempting to 
influence an officer or employee of any agency, a member of Congress, or an employee of a member of 
Congress in connection with the awarding of any federal contract, the making of any federal grant, the 
making of any federal loan, the entering into of any cooperative agreement, and the extension, 
continuation, renewal, amendment, or modification of any federal contract, grant, loan, or cooperative 
agreement. 
 
If any funds other than federal appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid to any person for 
influencing or attempting to influence an officer or employee of any agency, member of Congress, an 
officer or employee of Congress or an employee of a member of Congress in connection with this federal 
contract, grant, loan, or cooperative agreement, the Contractor shall complete and submit “Disclosure 
Form to Report Lobbying,” in accordance with its instructions. 
 
This certification is a material representation of fact upon which reliance is placed when entering into this 
Contract.  Submission of this certification is a prerequisite for making or entering into this Contract 
imposed under Section 1352 of Title 31, United States Code.  Failure to file the required certification 
shall be subject to civil penalties for such failure. 
 
The Contractor shall abide by lobbying laws of the State of Mississippi. 

4.16.7 Bribes, Gratuities and Kickbacks Prohibited  

The receipt or solicitation of bribes, gratuities and kickbacks is strictly prohibited. 
 
No elected or appointed officer or other employee of the Federal Government or of the State of 
Mississippi shall benefit financially or materially from this contract.  No individual employed by the State 
of Mississippi shall be permitted any share or part of this contract or any benefit that might arise there 
from. 
The Contractor represents that it has not, is not, and promises that it will not offer, give, or agree to give 
any employee or former employee a gratuity or an offer of employment in connection with any decision, 
approval, disapproval, recommendation, or preparation of any part of a program requirement or a 
purchase request.   
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Further the Contractor represents that it has not, is not, and will not influence the content of any 
specification or procurement standard, rendering of advice, investigating, auditing, or in any other 
advisory capacity in any proceeding or application, request for ruling, determination, claim or 
controversy, or other particular matter, pertaining to any program requirement or proposal therefor 
through the offering or giving of a gratuity.   

4.16.8 Small and Minority Businesses 

DOM encourages the employment of small business and minority business enterprises.  Therefore, the 
Contractor shall report, separately, the involvement in this Contract of small businesses and businesses 
owned by minorities and women.  Such information shall be reported on an invoice annually on the 
contract anniversary and shall specify the actual dollars contracted to-date with such businesses, actual 
dollars expended to date with such businesses, and the total dollars planned to be contracted for with such 
businesses on this Contract.   

4.16.9 Suspension and Debarment 

The Contractor certifies that it is not suspended or debarred under federal law and regulations or any other 
state’s laws and regulations. 

4.16.10 E-Payment 

The Contractor agrees to accept all payments in United States currency via the State of Mississippi’s 
electronic payment and remittance vehicle.  DOM agrees to make payment in accordance with 
Mississippi law on “Timely Payments for Purchases by Public Bodies,” which generally provides for 
payment of undisputed amounts by the agency within forty-five (45) days of receipt of invoice. Miss. 
Code Ann. § 31-7-305 (1972, as amended). 

4.16.11 Paymode 

Payments by state agencies shall be made and remittance information provided electronically as directed 
by the State.  These payments shall be deposited into the bank account of the Contractor’s choice.  The 
State may, at its sole discretion, require the Contractor to electronically submit invoices and supporting 
documentation at any time during the term of this Agreement.  Contractor understands and agrees that the 
State is exempt from the payment of taxes.  All payments shall be in United States currency. 

4.16.12 E-VERIFICATION  

The Contractor represents and warrants that it will ensure its compliance with the Mississippi 
Employment Protection Act of 2008, and will register and participate in the status verification system for 
all newly hired employees.  Miss. Code Ann. §§ 71-11-1 et seq. (1972, as amended).  The term 
“employee” as used herein means any person that is hired to perform work within the State of 
Mississippi.  As used herein, “status verification system” means the Illegal Immigration Reform and 
Immigration Responsibility Act of 1996 that is operated by the United States Department of Homeland 
Security, also known as the E-Verify Program, or any other successor electronic verification system 
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replacing the E-Verify Program.  Contractor agrees to maintain records of such compliance.  Upon 
request of the State and after approval of the Social Security Administration or Department of Homeland 
Security when required, the Contractor agrees to provide a copy of each such verification.  The Contractor 
further represents and warrants that any person assigned to perform services hereafter meets the 
employment eligibility requirements of all immigration laws.  The breach of this provision may subject 
the Contractor to the following:   
 

1. Termination of this Contract and ineligibility for any state or public contract in Mississippi for up 
to three (3) years with notice of such cancellation/termination being made public; 

2. The loss of any license, permit, certification, or other document granted to Contractor by an 
agency, department, or governmental entity for the right to do business in Mississippi for up to 
one (1) year; or  

3. Both.  In the event of such cancellations/termination, Contractor would also be liable for any 
additional costs incurred by the State due to contract cancellation or loss of license or permit to 
do business in the State.  

 
Remainder of This Page Intentionally Left Blank 
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5. TECHNICAL PROPOSAL 

5.1 INTRODUCTION 
 
All proposals must be typewritten on standard 8 ½ x 11 paper (larger paper is permissible for charts, 
spreadsheets, etc.) with tabs delineating each section.  One (1) copy of the entire proposal and one (1) 
copy of the redacted proposal must be submitted on CD each in a single searchable document in 
Microsoft Word or Adobe Acrobat (PDF) format. 
 
The Technical Proposal must include the following sections: 

 
1. Transmittal Letter; 
2. Executive Summary; 
3. Corporate Background and Experience (including audited financial statements); 
4. Ownership and Financial Disclosure; 
5. Organization and Staffing; 
6. Methodology; 
7. Project Management and Control; and, 
8. Work Plan and Schedule. 

 
Items to be included under each of these headings are identified in the paragraphs below.  Each section 
within the Technical Proposal should include all items listed in the paragraphs below. The evaluation of 
proposals will be done on a section-by-section basis.  A format that easily follows the requirements and 
order of the RFP should be used.   

 
Any proposal that does not adhere to these requirements may be deemed non-responsive and rejected on 
that basis. 

5.2 TRANSMITTAL LETTER 
 
The Transmittal Letter shall be in the form of a standard business letter on letterhead of the Offeror and 
shall be signed by an individual authorized to legally bind the Offeror.  The transmittal letter should 
identify all material and enclosures being submitted in response to the RFP.  Failure to include the 
statements or items listed below may result in rejection of the proposal.  The transmittal letter shall 
include the following: 
 

1. A statement indicating that the Offeror is a corporation or other legal entity; 

2. A statement confirming that the Offeror is registered to do business and in “Good Standing” with 
the state of Mississippi and providing their corporate charter number to work in Mississippi, if 
applicable; 

3. A statement identifying the Offeror’s federal tax identification number; 

4. A statement that, if the Offeror is awarded the Contract, the Offeror agrees that any lost or 
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reduced federal matching money resulting from unacceptable performance of a Contractor task or 
responsibility, as defined in this RFP, shall be accompanied by reductions in State payments to 
the Contractor; 

5. A statement identifying any prior project where the Offeror was terminated before the final 
solution was operational; 

6. A statement that no attempt has been made or will be made by the Offeror to induce any other 
person or firm to submit or not to submit a proposal; 

7. A statement that the Offeror has or has not (use applicable word) retained any person or agency 
on a percentage, commission, or other contingent arrangement to secure this contract; 

8. A statement that the Offeror has not violated, is not violating, and promises that it will not violate 
the prohibition against gratuities set forth in Section 4.16.7 of this RFP; 

9. A statement of Affirmative Action, that the Offeror does not discriminate in its employment 
practices with regard to race, color, religion, age (except as provided by law), sex, marital status, 
political affiliation, national origin, disability or genetic information; 

10. A statement that the Offeror agrees to the language of DOM’s BAA and DUA or has negotiated 
changes acceptable to DOM; 

11. A statement that no cost or pricing information has been included in this letter or any other part of 
the technical proposal; 

12. A statement identifying by number and date all amendments to this RFP issued by DOM which 
have been received by the Offeror. If no amendments have been received, a statement to that 
effect should be included; 

13. A statement that the Offeror has read, understands and agrees to all provisions of this RFP 
without reservation; 

14. Certification that the Offeror’s proposal will be firm and binding for one hundred eighty (180) 
days from the proposal due date; 

15. A statement naming any outside firms responsible for writing the proposal; 

16. A statement that the Contractor and all subcontractors have signed the Drug Free Workplace 
Certificate (Exhibit 1); 

17. A statement that the Offeror has included the signed DHHS Certification Regarding Debarment, 
Suspension, and Other Responsibility Matters for Primary Covered Transactions (Exhibit 2) with 
the Transmittal letter; 

18. All proposals submitted by corporations must contain certifications by the secretary, or other 
appropriate corporate official other than the corporate official signing the corporate proposal, that 
the corporate official signing the corporate proposal has the full authority to obligate and bind the 
corporation to the terms, conditions, and provisions of the proposal;  

19. All proposals submitted must include a statement that the Offeror presently has no interest and 
shall not acquire any interest, direct or indirect, which would conflict in any manner or degree 
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with the performance of services under this Contract, and it shall not employ, in the performance 
of this Contract, any person having such interest; and, 

20. If the proposal deviates from the detailed specifications and requirements of the RFP, the 
transmittal letter must identify and explain these deviations.  DOM reserves the right to reject any 
proposal containing such deviations or to require modifications before acceptance. 

5.3 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
The Executive Summary shall condense and highlight the contents of the Technical Proposal in such a 
way as to provide a broad understanding of the entire proposal.  The Executive Summary shall include a 
summary of the proposed technical approach, the staffing structure, and the task schedule, including a 
brief overview of: 

 
1. Proposed work plan; 

2. Staff organizational structure; 

3. Key personnel; and, 

4. A brief discussion of the Offeror’s understanding of the objectives and expectations of this RFP. 
 
The Executive Summary should be no more than five (5) single-spaced typed pages in length. 

5.4 CORPORATE BACKGROUND AND EXPERIENCE 
 
The Corporate Background and Experience Section shall include for the Offeror details of the background 
of the company, its size and resources, details of corporate experience relevant to the proposed contract, 
audited financial statements, and a list of all current or recent Medicaid or related projects.  The time 
frame to be covered should begin, at a minimum, in January 2009 through present date. 

5.4.1 Corporate Background 

The details of the background of the corporation, its size, and resources, shall cover: 
 

1. Date established; 

2. Location of the principal place of business; 

3. Location of the place of performance of the proposed Contract; 

4. Ownership (e.g.: public company, partnership, subsidiary); 

5. Total number of employees; 

6. Number of personnel currently engaged in project operations; 

7. Computer resources; 
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8. Performance history and reputation; 

9. Current products and services; and 

10. Professional accreditations pertinent to the services provided by this RFP. 

5.4.2 Audited Financial Statements 

Audited financial statements for the contracting entity shall be provided for each of the last five (5) years, 
including, at a minimum: 
 

1. Statement of income; 

2. Balance sheet; 

3. Statement of changes in financial position during the last five (5) years; 

4. Statement of cash flow; 

5. Auditors’ reports; 

6. Notes to financial statements; and, 

7. Summary of significant accounting policies. 
 

The State reserves the right to request any additional information to assure itself of an Offeror’s financial 
status. 

5.4.3 Corporate Experience 

The corporate experience section must present the details of the Offeror’s experience with the type of 
services to be provided by this RFP and Medicaid experience.  A minimum of three (3) corporate 
references are required for similar type and size of project services.  DOM may check references during 
the evaluation process at its option.  Each reference must include the client’s name and address and the 
current telephone number of the client’s responsible project administrator or of a senior official of the 
client who is familiar with the Offeror’s performance and who may be contacted by DOM during the 
evaluation process.  DOM reserves the right to contact officials of the client other than those indicated by 
the Offeror.  Overlapping responsibilities on the same client’s contract should be depicted so that they are 
easily recognized.  

 
The Offeror must provide for each experience: 
 

1. The client’s name; 

2. Client references (including phone numbers); 

3. Description of the work performed; 

4. Time period of contract; 
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5. Total number of staff hours expended during time period of contract; 

6. Personnel requirements; 

7. Publicly funded contract cost; and, 

8. Any contractual termination within the past five (5) years. 

5.5 OWNERSHIP AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSRUES 
 
Contractor must comply with all requirements of 42 C.F.R. § 455.104 – 106.  Please see Section 4.13 of 
this RFP and DOM’s standard draft contract on DOM’s procurement Website, 
http://www.medicaid.ms.gov/resources/procurement.  The Offeror shall include with its proposal the 
following Ownership and Financial Disclosures:   
 

1. Name and address of any person (individual or corporation) with an ownership or control interest 
in the Contractor.  The address for corporate entities must include as applicable primary business 
address, every business location, and P.O. Box address; 

2. Date of birth and Social Security Number (in the case of an individual); 

3. Other tax identification number (in the case of a corporation) with an ownership or control 
interest in the Contractor or in any subcontractor in which the Contractor (or DOM’s Agent or 
managed care entity) has a five percent (5%) or more interest; 

4. Whether the person (individual or corporation) with an ownership or control interest in the 
Contractor  is related to another person with ownership or control interest in the Contractor as a 
spouse, parent, child, or sibling; or whether the person (individual or corporation) with an 
ownership or control interest in any subcontractor in which the Contractor has a five percent 
(5%) or more interest is related to another person with ownership or control interest in the 
disclosing entity as a spouse, parent, child, or sibling; 

5. The name of any other managed care entity, fiscal agent or other DOM contractor in which an 
owner of the Contractor has an ownership or control interest; and 

6. The name, address, date of birth, and Social Security Number of any managing employee of the 
Contractor. 

5.6 ORGANIZATION AND STAFFING 
 
The Organization and Staffing section shall include project team organization, charts of proposed 
personnel and positions, estimates of the staff-hours by major task(s) to be provided by proposed 
positions, and résumés of all management and key professional personnel as required in this RFP. 

 
The Offeror shall: 
 

1. Provide experience and qualifications of each staff person proposed to work on this project; 

http://www.medicaid.ms.gov/resources/procurement/
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2. Describe how the Offeror will train, educate, and supervise staff regarding this project; 

3. Discuss the Offeror’s relationship with any proposed subcontractors, including how it will 
monitor these subcontractors; and its experience working with any proposed subcontractors.  The 
Offeror shall provide references and qualifications of proposed subcontractors, and resumes of 
any subcontractor staff proposed to work on this project. 

5.6.1 Organization 

The organization charts shall show: 
 

1. Organization and staffing during each phase as described in the RFP;  

2. Full-time, part-time, and temporary status of all proposed project employees; and  

3. The percentage of time each staff member is proposed to be allocated to this project. 

5.6.2 Résumés 

Offerors must submit résumés of all proposed key staff persons - Project Manager, and other key 
management staff.  Experience narratives shall be attached to the résumés describing specific experience 
with the type service to be provided by this RFP, a Medicaid program, and professional credentials, 
including any degrees, licenses, and recent and relevant continuing education.  
 
The résumés of proposed personnel shall include: 
 

1. Duration and experience as an employee with the Offeror; 

2. All experience in working with Medicaid programs; 

3. Experience in the type of services to be provided by this RFP; 

4. Relevant education and training, including college degrees, dates of completion, and institution 
name and address; and,  

5. Names, positions, current addresses, and current phone numbers of a minimum of three (3) 
persons who can give information on the individual’s experience and competence.  Current DOM 
staff shall not be submitted for any reference for the above requirements. 

 
The résumés of proposed managers shall also include: 
 

1. Experience in managing large-scale contractual services projects; 

2. Other management experience; and, 

3. Supervisory experience including details and number of people supervised. 
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Each project referenced in a résumé should include the client name, the time period of the project, and the 
time period the person performed, as well as a brief description of the project and the person’s 
responsibilities. 

5.6.3 Responsibilities 

This section should discuss the anticipated roles of personnel during all phases of the Contract.  All 
proposed key personnel, including definitions of their responsibilities during each phase of the Contract, 
should be identified. 

5.6.4 Backup Personnel Plan 

If additional staff is required to perform the functions of the Contract, the Offeror should outline 
specifically its plans and resources for adapting to these situations.  The Offeror should also address plans 
to ensure the longevity of staff in order to allow for effective DOM support. 

5.7 METHODOLOGY 
 
The Methodology Section should describe the Offeror’s approach to providing the services described in the 
Scope of Work, Section 1, of the RFP.  This section should contain a comprehensive description of the 
proposed work plan and specify how it will improve processes and provide enhanced efficiencies for the 
State.  The narrative descriptions within this section must include the following: 

 
1. The description shall encompass the requirements of this RFP as outlined in Scope of Work.   

2. The Section must describe the methodology to be followed in accomplishing each requirement 
outlined in the Scope of Work in sufficient detail to demonstrate the Offeror’s direction and 
understanding of this RFP.  

3. The Section must include a high-level project plan for the project. This project plan must be at the 
level of major tasks and milestones and be submitted in Microsoft Project. 

4. The Section must summarize how DOM staff will be used as resources in this project. It is 
DOM’s preference that DOM staff be included in all aspects of the engagement. 

5. The Section should include information about past performance results and a plan for evaluating 
the proposed project. 

 
5.8 PROJECT MANAGEMENT AND CONTROL 
 
The Project Management and Control Section shall include details of the methodology to be used in 
management and control of the project, project activities, and progress reports.  This section will also 
provide processes for identification and correction of problems.  Specific explanation must be provided if 
solutions vary from one phase to another.  This section covers: 
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1. Project management approach; 

2. Project control approach; 

3. Manpower and time estimating methods; 

4. Sign-off procedures for completion of all deliverables and major activities; 

5. Management of performance standards, milestones and/or deliverables; 

6. Assessment of project risks and approach to managing them; 

7. Anticipated problem areas and the approach to management of these areas, including loss of key 
personnel and loss of technical personnel; 

8. Internal quality control monitoring; 

9. Approach to problem identification and resolution; 

10. Project status reporting, including examples of types of reports; and 

11. Approach to DOM’s interaction with contract management staff. 

5.9 WORK PLAN AND SCHEDULE 
 
The Work Plan and Schedule must include a detailed work plan broken down by tasks and subtasks and a 
schedule for the performance of each task included in each phase of the Contract.  The schedule should 
allow ten (10) working days for DOM approval of each submission or re-submission of each individual 
deliverable.  The work plan to be proposed should include all responsibilities, milestones, and 
deliverables outlined previously in this RFP.  This section shall cover: 
 

1. Any assumptions or constraints identified by the Offeror, both in developing the work plan and in 
completing the work plan. 

2. Person-days of effort for each task or subtask, showing the Offeror’s personnel and DOM 
personnel efforts separately. 

3. A discussion of how the work plan provides for handling of potential and actual problems. 

4. A schedule for all deliverables.  A minimum of ten (10) working days review time by DOM.  

5. DOM expects that the Work Plan and Schedule will be a living document that will be 
preliminarily finalized during project initiation but may change during the length of the contract 
due to various circumstances that occur during the Mod MEDS project execution.  The Work 
Plan and Schedule is expected to be reviewed and revised (as needed) regularly and DOM will 
approve all changes that impact the overall Mod MEDS project schedule. 

Remainder of This Page Intentionally Left Blank  
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6. BUSINESS/COST PROPOSAL 

6.1 GENERAL 
 
All Offerors must certify in the transmittal letter that their offer shall be binding upon the Offeror for a 
period of one hundred eighty (180) days following the proposal due date.  Pricing will be considered as a 
separate criteria of the overall bid package.   

 
Offerors must propose a firm fixed price for each of the requirements contained on the pricing schedule 
(Appendix A). 

6.2 BID MODIFICATION IN THE EVENT OF A FEDERAL AND/OR STATE 
LAW, REGULATION OR POLICY 

 
In the event any change occurs in federal law, federal regulations, state law, state regulations, state 
policies, or state Medicaid plan coverage, and DOM determines that these changes impact materially on 
proposal pricing, DOM reserves the right to require the Offerors to amend their proposals.  The failure of 
an Offeror to negotiate these required changes will exclude such Offeror from further consideration for 
contract award.  All proposals shall be based upon the provisions of federal and state laws and regulations 
and DOM’s approved Medicaid State Plan coverage in effect on the issuance date of this RFP, unless this 
RFP is amended in writing to include changes prior to the closing date for receipt of proposals. 

6.3 PROPOSAL CONTENT 
 
The Business Proposal shall include only the following: 
 

1. Appendix A – Budget Summary - A detailed worksheet by line item of all costs as they pertain to 
the Contractor Responsibilities and Deliverables as found in Section 1.0 of the RFP. 

2. The Offeror shall provide rates for each proposed role.  These rates shall be used in pricing of 
any subsequent change orders. 

3. Additional pricing schedules to adequately explain method of cost determination including all 
assumptions (i.e. service or enrollment volume assumptions).  

4. Each pricing schedule must be signed and dated by an authorized corporate official. 

5. All proposals submitted by corporations must contain certification by the secretary or other 
appropriate corporate official, other than the signer of the corporate proposal, that the corporate 
official signing the corporate proposal has the authority to obligate and bind the corporation to the 
terms, conditions and provisions of the proposal. 

Proposals received that do not include the above items may be rejected at the discretion of DOM.  
Proposals that contain any material other than the above may be rejected at the discretion of DOM. 
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7. PROPOSAL EVALUATION 

7.1 GENERAL 
 
An Evaluation Committee will be established to evaluate the merits of eligible proposals.  The committee 
will be appointed by the Executive Director of DOM and will include members who have experience 
relevant to this project.  The Committee will be responsible for the evaluation of the technical and 
business proposals.  

7.2 EVALUATION OF PROPOSALS 
 
A standard evaluation form will be utilized by the Evaluation Committee to ensure consistency in 
evaluation criteria.  However, DOM retains the right to deviate from the standard form, if necessary to 
maintain the integrity of the procurement; and to ensure selection of the best qualified contractor. 

 
A maximum of one thousand (1,000) points will be available for each proposal which shall be comprised 
of a technical and a business proposal.  The points awarded per phase by the evaluation committee will be 
totaled to determine the points awarded per proposal. 

 
Evaluation of eligible proposals will be conducted in five (5) phases.  The Procurement Officer will 
complete Phase One.  The Technical Proposal Evaluation Committee will complete Phase Two.  The 
Business Proposal Evaluation Committee will complete Phase Three.  In Phase Four, the Procurement 
Officer will compile the results of the technical and business evaluations and make a recommendation to 
the Executive Director of DOM based on the results of the evaluation.  In Phase Five the award decision 
will be made by the Executive Director.     

7.2.1   Phase 1 - Evaluation of Offerors’ Response to RFP 

In this phase, the Procurement Officer reviews each proposal to determine if each proposal is responsive.  
Each proposal will be evaluated to determine if it is complete and whether it complies with the 
instructions to Offerors in the RFP.  Each proposal that is incomplete will be declared non-responsive and 
may be rejected with no further evaluation.  

 
The Procurement Officer will determine if an incomplete proposal is sufficiently responsive to continue to 
Phase Two. 

7.2.2   Phase 2 - Evaluation of Technical Proposal 

Only those proposals which meet the requirements in Phase One will be considered in Phase Two. 
 

Any Technical Proposal that is incomplete or in which there are significant inconsistencies or 
inaccuracies may be rejected by DOM.  DOM reserves the right to waive minor variances or reject any or 
all proposals.  In addition, DOM reserves the right to request clarifications or enter into discussions with 
all Offerors. 
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The Evaluation Committee will review each Offeror’s Technical Proposal in order to determine if the 
Offeror sufficiently has addressed all of the RFP requirements and that the Offeror has developed a 
specific approach to meeting each requirement.  

 
 

TECHNICAL PROPOSAL SECTION 
 

MAXIMUM SCORE 

Corporate Background and Experience 125 

Organization and Staffing 200 

Methodology 200 

Project Management 100 

Work Plan and Schedule 75 

TOTAL 700 
 

7.2.2.1 Executive Summary 

The Evaluation Committee will review the Executive Summary to determine if it provides all information 
required in Section 5.3 of this RFP and is five (5) pages or less in length.   

7.2.2.2 Corporate Background and Experience 

The Evaluation Committee will evaluate the experience, performance on similar contracts, resources, and 
qualifications of the Offeror to provide the services required by the RFP.  The evaluation criteria will 
address: 
 

1. Experience of Offeror in providing the requested services. 

2. Corporate experience providing similar services. 

3. Amount and level of resources proposed by the Offeror. 

4. Specific qualifications that evidence the Offeror’s ability to provide the services requested. 

5. Current financial position and cash flow of the Offeror and evidence that the Offeror has a history 
of financial solvency. 

6. Any contract terminations or non-renewals within the past five (5) years. 

7. Relevant experience that indicates your organizational qualifications for the performance of the 
potential contract. 
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7.2.2.3  Methodology 

The Evaluation Committee will evaluate the approach and process offered to provide services as required 
by this RFP.  In addition to the information required in Section 1.0 of this RFP, the evaluation criteria will 
address at a minimum the following (if applicable): 
 

1. Processes and requirements for successful completion of the project. 

2. Proposed coordination plan. 

3. Processes for maintaining confidentiality of protected health information (PHI). 

4. Processes for development and submission of required deliverables. 

5. Scope of services provided through partnerships or subcontractors. 

6. Quality Assurance processes. 

7.2.2.4 Organization and Staffing 

The Evaluation Committee will review this section of the Offeror’s proposal to determine if the proposed 
organizational structure and staffing level are sufficient to accomplish the requirements of the RFP.  The 
committee will review the organizational chart(s), time lines, the job descriptions including job 
qualifications, the resumes of staff and their qualifications for the positions they will hold, and the 
relationship of their past experience to their proposed responsibilities under this Contract.   

7.2.2.5 Project Management and Control 

The Evaluation Committee will evaluate the Offeror’s proposal to determine if all of the elements 
required by Section 5 of the RFP are addressed.  Specifically, the committee will evaluate: 
 

1. Offeror’s approach to the management of the project and ability to keep the project on target and 
to ensure that the requested services are provided; 

2. Offeror’s control of the project to ensure that all requests are being met and that the Offeror is 
able to identify and resolve problems which occur;  

3. Offeror’s methods for estimating and documenting personnel hours spent by staff on project 
activities to be sure they are sound and fair; 

4. Offeror’s plans to comply with the reporting requirements of the Contract, including the provision 
of status reports to DOM, and whether the reports are appropriate and sufficient to keep DOM 
informed of all aspects of the implementation and operation of the project; and 

5. Offeror’s understanding of the importance of interacting with DOM management staff and 
presenting a plan to do so appropriately. 
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7.2.2.6 Work Plan and Schedule 

The Evaluation Committee will review and evaluate the proposed work plan and schedule to determine if 
all tasks are included and if, for each task, a timeline and an identification of staff responsible for the 
task’s accomplishment are indicated.  The work plan must provide a logical sequence of tasks and a 
sufficient amount of time for their accomplishment. 

7.2.3 Phase 3 - Evaluation of Business/Cost Proposal 

Upon completion of Phase 2, proposals will be considered for Phase Three.  DOM reserves the right to 
waive minor variances or reject any or all proposals. 

 
Any bid price determined by DOM to be unrealistically or unreasonably low may not be considered 
acceptable, as such a proposal has a high probability of not being accomplished for the cost proposed.  
The Offeror may be required to produce additional documentation to authenticate the proposal price. 

 
The maximum three hundred (300) points will be assigned to the lowest and best acceptable proposal.  All 
other proposals will be assigned points based on the following formula: 
 

X * 300 = Z   X = lowest bid price 
Y    Y = Offeror’s bid price 

Z = assigned points 

7.3 Phase 4 and 5 - Selection 
 
After the evaluation committee has completed the evaluation of the proposals, a summary report 
including all evaluations will be submitted to the Executive Director of DOM.  The Executive Director 
will make the final decision regarding the winning proposal. 

 
 

Remainder of This Page Intentionally Left Blank   



Appendix A - Budget Summary 
 
Section 6.0 addresses submission of the Budget Summary. Failure to follow the submittal instructions will immediately disqualify the Offeror. Operation 
Cost should not include any Implementation Cost. 
 

 DELIVERABLES Cost 
15 % 
Retainage 

Cost Less 
Retainage 

 
Deliverable 
Due Date 

 Contractor(s) Deliverables        

 

The Contractor must draft an IV&V Plan to describe their approach for assuring quality of 
the Mod MEDS project.  The Plan must describe the proposed methodologies for 
managing quality during the full life-cycle of the project and identify metrics for tracking 
project performance against milestones.       

 

 

The Contractor must draft a comprehensive IV&V plan that includes a work plan.  
The work plan must detail tasks, resources, durations, and sequencing to execute 
the IV&V Plan. 

      

 

 

With the exception of the first month following contract award, the IV&V 
Contractor should provide the following monthly deliverables within the first ten 
(10) days of each month: 

o The Contractor shall provide a monthly status report to DOM that contains a 
listing of each position and hours worked for each position that contributed 
to work during the reporting month along with expected plans for the next 
month. 

o The Contractor shall provide to CMS a Monthly Independent Assessment 
Report. The report shall include, but not be limited to: 

 A summary report of any assessments with outstanding issues; 
 Any and all significant or serious deficiencies, risks, or concerns with the 

Modernized MEDS Project or its quality, design, development, or 
implementation;    
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 Any other circumstances which, if not remedied, will have a negative 
impact on the Modernized MEDS Project and its operations, design, 
development, implementation, efficiency, cost, and/or time for 
completion. 

 Project schedule – the Contractor shall provide a written assessment of 
the progress of the Modernized MEDS Project against planned tasks, 
duration, resources, completion dates, milestones, and issues impacting 
the schedule. The Contractor shall include recommendations specifying 
what can be done immediately and in the long term to remediate 
variations and deviations from the schedule. 

 Risk assessment – the Contractor shall report on the identified risks to the 
successful implementation of the Modernized MEDS System and the 
potential level of severity of said risks. The Contractor shall recommend 
mitigation and/or resolution strategies to manage and/or eliminate the 
identified risks. 

 Project phase assessments – the Contractor shall provide an assessment of 
the activities and progress of unit, system, parallel, conversion, 
integration, user acceptance, and operational readiness testing, and 
implementation phases of the project. 

 Provide recommendations, as necessary, for addressing any issues 
relative to the successful completion of the project phases, including 
detailed recommendations in each area of the project phases specifying 
what can be done immediately and in the long term to improve in said 
area. 

 

Within thirty (30) days of the implementation of each phase, the Contractor shall 
prepare a post-implementation report that provides information in areas that can 
be applied directly to the ongoing program.  DOM’s Project Director and the 
Contractor will define post-implementation report specifics during project 
implementation. 
    

 



Independent Verification and Validation Services 
RFP# 20150123-IT 

Office of the Governor – Division of Medicaid 
 
       

Page 69 of 73 
 

 

The Contractor must perform a risk and issues review and help DOM develop any 
course of action to mitigate the risks and issues found. 
    

 

 

The Contractor must provide an independent, detailed review of DDI deliverables 
to assess the quality, alignment to project objectives, and adherence to both State 
and Federal requirements.  The Contractor must implement review procedures 
that allow the completion of a deliverable review within seven days of submission 
to the Contractor by DOM.  In addition, the Contractor must provide attestations 
of DDI implementations as required by CMS during the course of system 
development.    

 

  Totals        
 
 
 
Change Order Rate:_____________ 
 
 
Additional Activities Proposed:_______________ 
 
 
Travel:________________ 
  



 
EXHIBIT 1 

DHHS CERTIFICATION REGARDING DRUG-FREE WORKPLACE REQUIREMENTS: 

GRANTEES OTHER THAN INDIVIDUALS 

Instructions for Certification 
 

By signing and/or submitting this application or grant agreement, the grantee is providing the certification set out 
below. 
 
1) This certification is required by regulations implementing the Drug-Free Act of 1988, 45 CFR Part 76, Subpart 
F. The regulations, published in the May 25, 1990, Federal Register, require certification by grantees that they 
will maintain a drug-free workplace. The certification set out below is a material representation of fact upon 
which reliance will be placed when the Department of Health and Human Services (HHS) determines to award 
the grant. If it is later determined that the grantee knowingly rendered a false certification, or otherwise violates 
the requirements of the Drug-Free Workplace Act, HHS, in addition to any other remedies available to the 
Federal Government, may take action authorized under the Drug-Free Workplace Act. 
 
2) Workplaces under grants, for grantees other than individuals, need not be identified on the certification. If 
known, they may be identified in the grant application. If the grantee does not identify the workplaces at the time 
of application, or upon award, if there is no application, the grantee must keep the identity of the workplace(s) on 
file in its office and make the information available for Federal inspection. Failure to identify all known 
workplaces constitutes a violation of the grantee's drug-free workplace requirements. 
 
3) Workplace identifications must include the actual address of buildings (or parts of buildings) or other sites 
where work under the grant takes place. Categorical descriptions may be used (e.g., all vehicles of a mass transit 
authority or State highway department while in operation, State employees in each local unemployment office, 
performers in concert halls or radio studios). 
 
4) If the workplace identified to DOM changes during the performance of the grant, the grantee shall inform 
DOM of the change(s), if it previously identified the workplaces in question (see above). 
 
5) Definitions of terms in the Nonprocurement Suspension and Debarment common rule and Drug-Free 
Workplace common rule apply to this certification. Grantees' attention is called, in particular, to the following 
definitions from these rules: 
 
"Controlled substance" means a controlled substance in Schedules I through V of the Controlled Substances Act 
(21 U.S.C. 812) and as further defined by regulation (21 CFR 1308.11 through 1308.15); 
 
"Conviction" means a finding of guilt (including a plea of nolo contendere) or imposition of sentence, or both, by 
any judicial body charged with the responsibility to determine violations of the Federal or State criminal drug 
statutes; 
 
"Criminal drug statute" means a Federal or non-Federal criminal statute involving the manufacture, distribution, 
dispensing, use, or possession of any controlled substance; 
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"Employee" means the employee of a grantee directly engaged in the performance of work under a grant, 
including (i) all direct charge employees; (ii) all indirect charge employees unless their impact or involvement is 
insignificant to the performance of the grant; and (iii) temporary personnel and consultants who are directly 
engaged in the performance of work under the grant and who are on the grantee's payroll. This definition does 
not include workers not on the payroll of the grantee (e.g., volunteers, even if used to meet a matching 
requirement; consultants or independent contractors not on the grantee's payroll; or employees of subrecipients or 
subcontractors in covered workplaces). 
 
The grantee certifies that it will or will continue to provide a drug-free workplace by 
 
a) Publishing a statement notifying employees that the unlawful manufacture, distribution, dispensing, 
possession, or use of a controlled substance is prohibited in the grantee's workplace and specifying the actions 
that will be taken against employees for violation of such prohibition; 
 
b) Establishing an ongoing drug-free awareness program to inform employees about  

1. The dangers of drug abuse in the workplace;  
2. the grantee's policy of maintaining a drug-free workplace;  
3. any available drug counseling, rehabilitation, and employee assistance programs; and  
4. the penalties that may be imposed upon employees for drug abuse violations occurring in the workplace; 

 
c) Making it a requirement that each employee to be engaged in the performance of the grant be given a copy of 
the statement required by paragraph (a); 
 
d) Notifying the employee in the statement required by paragraph (a) that, as a condition of employment under 
the grant, the employee will 

1. Abide by the terms of the statement; and 
2. notify the employer in writing of his or her conviction for a violation of a criminal drug statute occurring 

in the workplace no later than five calendar days after such conviction; 
 
e) Notifying DOM in writing, within ten calendar days after receiving notice under paragraph (d)(2) from an 
employee or otherwise receiving actual notice of such conviction. Employers of convicted employees must 
provide notice, including position title, to every grant officer or other designee on whose grant activity the 
convicted employee was working, unless the Federal agency has designated a central point for the receipt of such 
notices. Notice shall include the identification number(s) of each affected grant; 
 
f) Taking one of the following actions, within 30 calendar days of receiving notice under paragraph (d)(2), with 
respect to any employee who is so convicted: 
 
1) Taking appropriate personnel action against such an employee, up to and including termination, consistent 
with the requirements of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, as amended; or 2) requiring such employee to participate 
satisfactorily in a drug abuse assistance or rehabilitation program approved for such purposes by a Federal, State, 
or local health, law enforcement, or other appropriate agency; 
 
g) Making a good faith effort to continue to maintain a drug-free workplace through implementation of 
paragraphs (a), (b), (c), (d), (e) and (f). 
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The grantee may insert in the space provided below the site(s) for the performance of work done in connection 
with the specific grant (use attachments if needed): 
 
Place of Performance (street address, city, county, state, zip code)  
 
Check if there are workplaces on file that are not identified here. 
---->NOTE: Sections 76.630(c) and (d)(2) and 76.635(a)(1) and (b) provide that a Federal agency may designate 
a central receipt point for STATE-WIDE AND STATE AGENCY-WIDE certifications, and for notification of 
criminal drug convictions. For HHS, the central receipt point is Division of Grants Management and Oversight, 

Office of Management and Acquisition, HHS, Room 517-D, 200 Independence Ave, S.W., Washington, 
D.C.20201 

 
____________________________  ______________________ 
Signature      Date  

 
 

____________________________  ______________________ 
Title       Organization 
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EXHIBIT 2 
 

DHHS Certification Regarding Debarment, Suspension, and Other Responsibility Matters 
Primary Covered Transactions 
45 CFR Part 76, Appendix A 

 
(1) The prospective primary participant certifies to the best of its knowledge and belief that it and its 
principals: 

1. Are not presently debarred, suspended, proposed for debarment, declared ineligible, or 
voluntarily excluded by any Federal department or agency; 

2. Have not within a three-year period preceding this proposal been convicted of or had a civil 
judgment rendered against them for commission of fraud or a criminal offense in connection with 
obtaining, attempting to obtain, or performing a public (Federal, State or local) transaction or 
contract under a public transaction; violation of Federal or State antitrust statutes or commission 
of embezzlement, theft, forgery, bribery, falsification or destruction of records, making false 
statements, or receiving stolen property; 

3. Are not presently indicted for or otherwise criminally or civilly charged by a government entity 
(Federal, State or local) with commission of any of the offenses enumerated in paragraph (1)(b) 
of this certification; and 

4. Have not within a three-year period preceding this proposal had one or more public transactions 
(Federal, State or local) terminated for cause or default. 

 
(2) Where the prospective primary participant is unable to certify to any of the statements in this 
certification, such prospective participant shall attach an explanation to this proposal.  
 
 
 ________________________________  ____________________________ 

Signature              Date 
 
 
 ________________________________  ____________________________ 
 Title      Organization 
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